
ALEXANDRIA WATERFRONT COMMISSION  

Tuesday, March 17, 2015 
City Hall Sister Cities Conference Room 

301 King Street 
7:30 a.m. 

AGENDA 
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
2. Approval of Minutes from February 19, 2015 
3. FY 2016-FY 2025 CIP Proposed Budget –  Waterfront Plan Implementation  
4. Ad Hoc Monitoring Group on Waterfront Construction  
5. Old Town Area Parking Study Work Group 
6. Marina Subcommittee 
7. Torpedo Factory Art Center 
8. Agency Reports 

a. Common Elements Update – P & Z  
b. Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead Community Meeting #1 – DPI 
c. Waterfront Governance Study Update – P & Z 
d. Special Events Policy Recommendations Status – RPCA 
e. Waterfront Program: Operations Update – RPCA 

9. Reports from Commissioners 
10. Announcements / Public Comments 

UPCOMING EVENTS  

• Marina Subcommittee 
April 9, 5 p.m., Room 2000, City Hall, 301 King St. 

• Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead Community Meeting #2 
April 13, 6:30 p.m., Lee Center, 1108 Jefferson St. 

• Waterfront Commission Meeting 
April 21, 7:30 a.m., Sister Cities Conference Room, City Hall, 301 King St. 

 
 

Waterfront Activities, Events & Meetings: www.alexandriava.gov/Waterfront  

http://www.alexandriava.gov/Waterfront


 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

1 
 

Summary Minutes 
ALEXANDRIA WATERFRONT COMMISSION  

Tuesday, February 19, 2015  
City Hall  

Sister Cities Conference Room 
7:30 a.m. 

 
Commission Members 
Present 

Dennis Auld, Citizen Park Planning District II 
Gina Baum, Alexandria Park and Recreation Commission 
Jerry Bennis, Alexandria Marina Pleasure Boat Leaseholders representative 
Howard Bergman, Founders Park Community Association (FPCA) 
Suzanne Bethel, Old Town Business and Professional Association (OTBPA) 
John Bordner, Citizen west of Washington St. 
Shirley Downs, Alexandria Commission for the Arts 
Stewart Dunn, Alexandria Planning Commission  
Charlotte Hall, Alexandria Chamber of Commerce and Chair 
Kathryn Kolbe, Citizen, Park Planning District III  
Mari Lou Livingood, Alexandria Seaport Foundation  
Jody Manor, Alexandria Convention and Visitors Association (ACVA) 
Stephen Mutty, Citizen Park Planning District I 
Edward (Ted) Pulliam, Alexandria Archaeology Commission 
Stephen Thayer, Citizen east of Washington St. and north of King St.  
Townsend A. (Van) Van Fleet, Old Town Civic Association  
Christa Watters, Citizen east of Washington St. and north of Pendleton St. 
Ryan Wojtanowski, Environmental Policy Commission 

Absent:  
Arthur Fox, east of Washington St. and south of King St. 
Charles Ablard, Historic Alexandria Foundation representative 

Excused: 
 Paul Smedberg, Member, Alexandria City Council 
City Staff: 

Jack Browand, Commission Staff Liaison and Division Chief, Public Relations, Special 
Events & Waterfront Operations, Recreation, Parks, and Cultural Activities (RPCA) 

Tom Canfield, City Architect, Planning and Zoning (P&Z) 
Maya Contreras, P&Z 
Tony Gammon, Department of Project Implementation Department of Project 

'Implementation (DPI) 
Pete Mensinger, Code Administration 
Iris Portny, Commission Recording Secretary, RPCA  

Guests: 
Yuri Blazer, City Interests,  
Susan Cohen, Public Art Committee 
Bert Ely, Friends of the Alexandria Waterfront 
Peter Farrell, City Interests 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

2 
 

Chris Furlong, City Interests 
Mary Catherine Gibbs, Hart, Calley, Gibbs & Karp, PC (counsel to ODBC) 
Hal Hardaway, 311 South Union Street 
Val Hawkins, Alexandria Economic Development Partnership 
Jeff Lockwood, Hickok Cole 
Devon Perkins, Hickok Cole  
Eric Wallner, Torpedo Factory Arts Center 
Ken Wire, McGuire Woods LLP  
 

Welcome and Introductions 
Hall called the Commission to order at 7:30 a.m. and Commissioners introduced themselves.  
Hall announced that two new Commissioners had been appointed by Council to fill vacancies: 
Kathryn Kolbe, representing Planning District III, and Charles Ablard, representing the Historic 
Alexandria Foundation. She reminded Commissioners of the requirement they attend at least 75 
percent of meetings and the importance of their keeping their constituencies regularly informed 
of activities overseen by the Commission. 
 
Approval of Minutes from January 20, 2015  
Dunn moved and Auld seconded that the January 20, 2015 minutes be approved. The motion 
passed by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Robinson Terminal South Ad Hoc Subcommittee Report  
Note: Letter as approved is posted to:  
http://www.alexandriava.gov/uploadedFiles/recreation/info/WCRTSCityCouncilLetter19Feb2
015.pdf 
 
Watters presented the revised draft Commission letter to Council conveying the Commission's 
judgment on how well EYA's proposed Robinson Terminal South (RTS) development meets the 
Waterfront Small Area Plan's goals and guidelines for the site. She thanked Commissioners for 
suggestions submitted during and after the Commission's discussion of the draft at its January 17, 
2015 meeting. 
 
Action: Watters moved and Wojtanowski seconded that the Commission's revised draft letter be 
accepted and forwarded to City Council and other appropriate entities. The motion passed by 
voice vote with Mutty abstaining and Van Fleet voting no. 
 
500 & 501 N. Union Street  
Note: Briefing is posted to:  
http://www.alexandriava.gov/uploadedFiles/recreation/info/RTNPresentationWC19Feb2015.p
df 
 
Wire reported the Board of Architectural Review (BAR) had endorsed City Interests'  proposed 
design for the project at the BAR's February 18, 2015 meeting by a 4-2 vote, with a member 
absent due to illness having indicated she also supported the design. Wire reviewed design 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

3 
 

changes made since the Commission's previous briefing on the proposed site design, including a 
number of changes made to the east building site that were made in response to the BAR's 
suggestions, especially for the pavilion. 
 
Activating the east building's public spaces 
In response to Commissioners' concerns about how the east building's design will activate the 
site, Wire said EYA had identified three potential categories of tenant for the 8,000 square foot 
public pavilion: retail, restaurant, and cultural entity. He said the development's cost makes it 
necessary for the pavilion space to have a rent-paying tenant. 

Parking 
Wire said the number of parking spaces planned would accommodate the most dense potential 
use of the pavilion, a restaurant. In response to Baum's question, Wire said the east and west 
buildings would each have one entrance to their parking garages and each garage would be used 
for both deliveries and visitor/resident parking.  
 
West's Point 
Wire said the development team has been discussing with the City's archeology office ideas for 
commemorating West's Point, including the historically appropriate location to do so. 
 
Design concept  
Wire said the design team has struggled with how to incorporate elements of both historic Old 
Town and North Old Town and, among the design choices reviewed, he provided samples of the 
bricks and grey slate planned for the facade. 

East building green roof  
Wire said the east building's green roof will be fully visible by air to those using the  busy 
Reagan Airport approach. Wojtanowski invited City Interests to consult the Environmental 
Planning Commission (EPC) for ideas for sustainable plantings.  
  
Goals and Guidelines highlighted in the RTN draft letter. 
Wire said almost the entire ownership/ stewardship of the site's outside open space will be for 
public use and the development team is discussing with staff how this would be managed. 
 
Public art and amenities 
Wire said EYA plans to make a one-time $70,000 payment to the City ($.30/square foot) for 
public art for the site that the City will be responsible for choosing. 
 
Commission discussion 
In response to Dunn's question, Wire said the two BAR members who opposed the proposed 
design had primarily disagreed with the Waterfront Plan's building mass and scale for the site. 
 
Responsibility for maintenance 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

4 
 

In response to Livingood's question, Wire said the EYA team is currently discussing with the 
City, including the Planning Commission and Council, who will be responsible for managing 
and maintaining the site's pier. Watters said the City should not be responsible for covering the 
full cost of maintaining the pier if a restaurant on the pavilion were able to put tables on the pier. 
Wire said he assumed that if a restaurant wanted to use the pier the City's permitting process 
would address this. Downs said a formal agreement indicating responsibility for ongoing 
maintenance will be important. 

In response to Auld's question, Wire said the project's pier consultants are considering how the 
pier design could minimize the problem of river debris.  

Transient boat tie-up 
Livingood said some type of maritime boat use should be incorporated into the pier as a way to 
activate the area. Wire said the development team plans to request a Special Use Permit SUP for 
a transient boat tie-up.   
 
History and cultural elements  
Pulliam said the design team's basic historic interpretation plan is a good start and he looks 
forward to their working with staff and the appropriate commissions to refine it. He said the 
development team should continue to look for a cultural entity such as a museum or theater to 
integrate into the pavilion uses. 
 
Project timeline 
In response to Auld's question, Wire said it might be a year before demolition and construction 
could begin. He said the complicated City and federal permitting process makes a specific 
timeline projection difficult. He said site construction would likely take about a year and a half. 
 
Design's relationship to Old Town's historic design concept? 
Bergman and Van Fleet said they oppose the proposed design because it is inconsistent with 
historic Old Town's architectural style. Bergman said that even though the design is consistent 
with the Waterfront Plan's goals and guidelines, he regrets the Waterfront Plan failed to "extend 
the charm of Old Town" beyond the Old and Historic District. Van Fleet said he hoped Council 
would reconsider the BAR's decision to approve the proposed design. Wojtanowski said Old 
Town's authenticity would be devalued if the new development, adjacent to the Historic District, 
were to incorporate Old Town's architectural style.  
 
Next steps 
Wire said the final RTN renderings would be submitted to the City a few days after the 
Commission meeting. He said meetings are planned with the Urban Design Advisory Committee 
(UDAC),  Planning Commission and City Council. 
 
Public Comments 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

5 
 

In response to Bert Ely's question, Wire said approximately 25,000 square feet is planned for all 
active uses, including the pavilion and part of the hotel lobby, and 276 parking spaces are 
planned. 

Hal Hardaway said he opposes City Interests' proposed design. 

Susie Cohen said the design should avoid overemphasizing written historical documentation and 
signage to convey the site's history and consider how smart phone apps might be also be used to 
provide expanded historical information for visitors.  

Old Dominion Boat Club  
Briefing posted to:  
http://www.alexandriava.gov/uploadedFiles/recreation/info/ODBCPresenationWC19Feb2015.
pdf 
 
Mary Catherine Gibbs, ODBC's land use attorney, introduced the Michael Winstanley 
architectural design team. She reported the BAR had unanimously approved ODBC's propose 
clubhouse design the previous evening and ODBC would present its plans in March 2015 to the 
Planning Commission and Council at public hearings. 
 
Design elements common to Waterfront public and private spaces 
Winstanley said ODBC wants to integrate into its design the same materials that will be used for 
Waterfront public spaces, especially for elements such as ODBC's parking lot surface. He asked 
the Commission to encourage the City to task the Olin design team as soon as possible to 
identify these common design materials because, if ODBC does not have this information soon, 
it will have to choose its own materials to stay on its planned clubhouse schedule.  
 
Incorporating history 
Winstanley reviewed how the ODBC and Beachcomber histories are incorporated within the 
clubhouse design. He said the ODBC team is discussing with City staff ideas for panels to be 
placed on the building's rear that will reflect the site's history 

Site improvements 
Winstanley said ODBC also plans to use landscaping, including four trees to be added along 
Prince Street, to enhance the site since the clubhouse will be finished ahead of the City's planned 
public space improvements. 
 
Commission Discussion 
In response to Baum's question, Winstanley reviewed the relationship of the parking lot, 
boardwalk, and boat ramp. He said the boat ramp will go over the boardwalk and bollards will be 
used to hold back boardwalk pedestrians when the boat ramp is in use.  
 
Pervious pavers 
Wojtanowski encouraged ODBC to use a pervious paver for the parking lot surface for its 
environmental impact. Winstanley said ODBC is open to pervious pavers and would like to use 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

6 
 

the material to be used for the public spaces but needs that information as soon as possible.  
Browand said the City is working to provide the needed information to ODBC. 
 
In response to Auld's question, Winstanley said ODBC will remove the current Beachcomber 
building because it is structurally unsound and will replace it with an almost identical building . 
 
Boat ramp's potential impact on promenade pedestrian traffic? 
Livingood said she was concerned about the ODBC's boat ramp's potential impact on the 
promenade's pedestrian traffic and asked for data on how many ODBC boats would likely be 
using the ramp during the boating season. She asked if ODBC could coordinate the timing of its 
members' use of the boat ramp so as not to conflict with the times of high volume pedestrian use 
of the promenade. times. Winstanley said usage data will be provided. Thayer said the City-
ODBC agreement includes an assurance regarding an ODBC boat ramp and ODBC is designing 
the ramp to minimize its impact on public use of the promenade 
 
In response to Van Fleet's question about the status of the Gilpin Alley easement, Gibbs said the 
City is working with property owners to reach an agreement. 
 
Planned ODBC boat ramp and pier 
In response to Downs' question, Winstanley said the current ODBC design does not include the 
boat ramp planned for the site and no work has been done on how it might be designed. Bennis 
asked what ODBC's current thinking is regarding the piers.  Winstanley said the ODBC design 
does not include the piers. It was pointed out that the City-ODBC agreement gives ODBC 10 
years to make a decision on its piers. 
 
ODBC project timeline. 
In response to Auld's question, Winstanley said ODBC construction can be done before the 
City's flood mitigation. In response to Bordner's question, Winstanley said it might be possible 
for the clubhouse to be ready for move-in by summer 2016. He said its Planning Commission 
and Council public hearings are planned for March 2015, design drawings are expected to be 
finalized by the end of June 2015, and construction could start as early as summer 2015 and 
probably be completed within nine to 12 months. 
 
The need to identify common elements for public and private spaces soon 
Mutty moved and numerous Commissioners seconded that the Commission convey to the City 
the Commission's judgment that it is urgent to resolve design continuity elements affecting the 
public and private Waterfront spaces. 
 
Watters said the Commission's broader letter to Council regarding the Robinson Terminal North 
site design includes a statement that the Olin design team should promptly come up with Second 
Phase designs that address the common elements of the Plan so private Waterfront developers 
can incorporate these common design elements as they move forward with constructing their 
projects.  She suggested the Commission restate this position in a separate letter to Council. 



 DRAFT Waterfront Commission Minutes - 2/19/15 

7 
 

 
Watters said the City needs to resolve confusion about materials soon because the Commission's 
Ad Hoc Committee on the Robinson Terminal South development site was advised that a City 
staff member had told the Robinson Terminal South design team the City might not recommend 
using permeable pavers. Watters said the Commission needs a technical engineering opinion 
regarding how water table levels close to the river might affect the appropriateness of using 
permeable materials before finalizing its letter to Council on this. She said without a timely City 
decision on materials the end result will be a patchily designed Waterfront because private 
developers will make their design decisions without knowing the City's choices. Watters said 
Commissioners should convey the urgency of resolving these questions to both the Planning 
Commission and Council. 
 
Action. Mutty withdrew his motion so the Commission could consider it at its March meeting. In 
response to Hall's request, Browand said the Commission would be updated in March 2015 on 
the status of City decisions regarding design elements common to the public and private spaces. 
 
Announcements  
Hall announced written reports would be submitted for the agenda items not be covered: the Ad 
Hoc Monitoring Group on Waterfront Construction, Old Town Area Parking Study, Marina 
Committee, Agency Reports, including the  February 12, 2015 Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead 
Community Meeting, and reports from Commissioners.  
 
Adjournment 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:05 a.m.  
 



Alexandria Waterfront Commission 
Waterfront Plan Implementation 

 
CIP SUMMARY 

FY2016-FY2025 PROPOSED 
 

FY 2016 Proposed Budget 
 

•  http://www.alexandriava.gov/Budget  
 
FY 2016 Budget Calendar - CIP 

• Thursday, April 9 - Budget Work Session: Capital Improvement Program 
6:30 p.m. - Sister Cities Conference Room 1101 (City Hall), 301 King St.  

Future Budget Considerations 

• As Phase II of the Waterfront Implementation moves forward, staff continue to identify 
future maintenance, replacement and operational costs which are not represented in the 
proposed in FY2016-2025 CIP Budget 

Department of Project Implementation 
 

• Waterfront Small Area Plan Implementation: $61,490,000 (FY 2016-FY2025) 
 

Department of Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities 
 

• City Marina Waterfront Dredging: $4,500,000 (FY 2021 & FY 2022) 
• City Marina Maintenance: $1,250,000 (FY 2016-FY 2025) 

Maintenance: $90,000 annually 
Founders Park Seawall: FY 2016:$100,000 & FY 2017:$250,000 

• City Marina Utility Upgrades: $1,250,000 (FY 2016 & FY 2017) 
• Waterfront Parks CFMP: $500,000 (FY 2016-FY 2017: $50,000 annually) 
• Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead: $5,000,000 (FY 2016) 

Department of Transportation & Environmental Services 

• Transportation Signage & Way finding System: 1,749,000 (FY2017 – FY 2021) 
• Oronoco Outfall: $300,000 (FY 2016) 

 

Note: Budget Documents follow 

http://www.alexandriava.gov/Budget


Community Development 
Proposed FY 2016 – 2025 Capital Improvement Program 

Summary of Projects 
 

 

 

  

CIP Seciton/Subsection/Project FY 16 FY 17 FY 18 FY 19 FY 20 FY 21 FY 22 FY 23 FY 24 FY 25
TOTAL

FY 16-25
Community Development

City-Wide Amenities
Public Art Acquisition 0 250,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 2,650,000
Public Art Conservation Program 15,000 15,000 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500 22,500 210,000
Transportation Signage & Wayfinding System 0 200,000 515,000 361,000 432,000 241,000 0 0 0 0 1,749,000
Gadsby Lighting Fixtures & Poles Replacement 150,000 150,000 0 75,000 0 75,000 0 75,000 0 75,000 600,000

Neighborhood Planning
Waterfront Small Area Plan Implementation (w/ Construction Funding) 1,500,000 760,000 5,800,000 7,250,000 5,520,000 5,800,000 11,340,000 9,270,000 1,580,000 12,670,000 61,490,000
Braddock Road Area Plan - Streetscape Improvements 204,000 0 0 0 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 474,000
King Street Plan Implementation 0 0 150,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 0 0 0 0 900,000

Waterways Maint. & Imprv.
Four Mile Run Stream Restoration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Oronoco Outfall 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000
City Marina Waterfront Dredging 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,500,000
Environmental Restoration 0 150,000 0 150,000 0 150,000 0 150,000 0 150,000 750,000

Public Safety Enhancements
Fire Department Vehicles & Apparatus 1,487,000 1,378,000 874,000 2,852,000 3,446,000 2,009,000 2,583,000 2,500,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 23,129,000
Citywide Street Lighting 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 250,000

FY 2016 - 2025 Community Development Total 3,681,000 2,928,000 7,686,500 11,285,500 10,040,500 9,417,500 18,315,500 12,387,500 5,972,500 15,287,500 97,002,000

Note: Projects with $0 total funding are active capital projects funded in prior CIPs that do not require additional resources.

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 93

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight



Transportation Signage and Wayfinding System 
Document Subsection:  City-Wide Amenities Project Location:   Citywide 
Managing Department:  Transportation & Environmental Services Reporting Area:  Citywide    
Supporting Department(s):  Planning & Zoning Project Category/Priority:  3 – New Facilities 
ORG:  43301599 Estimated Useful Life:  Varies    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 2,869,000 1,120,000 0 200,000 515,000 361,000 432,000 241,000 0 0 0 0 1,749,000

Financing Plan
Prior City  Funding 1,120,000 1,120,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash Capital   1,749,000 0 0 200,000 515,000 361,000 432,000 241,000 0 0 0 0 1,749,000
Total Financing Plan 2,869,000 1,120,000 0 200,000 515,000 361,000 432,000 241,000 0 0 0 0 1,749,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 25,750 26,523 27,318 28,138 132,728
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 50,750 77,273 104,591 132,728 132,728

Transportation Signage & Wayfinding System

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  Planned funding for FY 2016 - 2020 in last year's CIP was moved back to FY 2017 - 2021 based on prior year balances available to completed FY 2016 initiatives. No other changes 
from prior year CIP.

Project Description & Justification 
This project provides for the comprehensive design of a signage, 
wayfinding, and identity system that will project a consistent image for 
the entire City, reduce clutter, promote walking and mass transit, and 
be sustainable and expandable. A well-designed and implemented 
wayfinding program will increase identification of key sites and 
attractions, including parking, and support the City’s goals of orienting 
and informing visitors and residents, motivating them to visit historic 
sites, and making the navigation of the City easier.   
 
Work sessions with the City Council, Planning Commission, and the 
Board of Architectural Review were held in January 2009. The design 
phase of this project was approved in FY 2010. Implementation began 
in FY 2011 with Phase 1, and remaining phases, occurring over time 
as funding becomes available. Implementation involves the fabrication 
and installation of the wayfinding signs and will be coordinated with the 
implementation of the Braddock Road, King Street, Mt. Vernon 
Avenue, Arlandria, Waterfront, Beauregard, Potomac Yard, and 
Landmark/Van Dorn plans. In order to distribute the cost of the 
wayfinding program over multiple years, a phased approach is 
recommended for implementation.    
 
The completed and planned project implementation schedule, including 
estimated cost and timeline for completion, is provided on the next 
page. 
 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 1 – Economic Development 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote neighborhoods that are amenity-rich 
• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects our 

history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 
• Increase the economic benefits of tourism to the City 
• Ensure Alexandria supports, retains, and attracts 

businesses 
• Increase transportation system mobility, connectivity, and 

accessibility that supports the City’s economy 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• City of Alexandria Wayfinding System Design Guidelines 

Manual approved by the Planning Commission, September 
2010 
 

 
Additional Operating Budget Impact 

As part of the FY 2015 Operating Budget, a 0.5 FTE position was 
added in T&ES to support this, and other, transportation related 
projects, paid through the TIP. Those costs are now part of the FY 
2016 operating budget and not reflected in the table above. 
Beginning FY 2021, $25,000 is planned annually to replace signs 
and kiosks on an as-needed basis through General Fund sources. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 97



 

Transportation Signage and Wayfinding System (Continued) 
Phase 1 - Parking signs in Old Town ($100,000, FY 2010) – Completed 
 
Phase 2 - Old Town visitor kiosks, pedestrian pointers ($295,000, FY 2013) – Planning complete; fabrication and installation in late summer 2015 
 
Phase 3a - Vehicular signs for primary routes ($225,000, FY 2014 –FY 2016) – Currently in planning phase; fabrication and installation in spring 
2016 
 
Phase 3b – Metro station visitor kiosks, highway signs, freestanding interpretive panels ($200,000, FY 2017)  
 
Phase 4 - City gateways, parking signs (non-Old Town), vehicular signs for secondary routes, shared use trail signs, destination identification 
signs ($515,000, FY 2018) 
 
Phase 5 - Destination Identification signs (City attractions/parks/civic-double post), vehicular signs for secondary routes ($361,000, FY 2019) 
 
Phase 6 - Destination Identification signs (City parks/civic-single post), pedestrian mini kiosks and pointers (Waterfront and non-Old Town), 
interpretive ground plane medallions ($432,000, FY 2020) 
 
Phase 7 - Interpretive panels and two-sided kiosks (Waterfront), district markers ($241,000, FY 2021) 
  

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 98



Waterfront Small Area Plan Implementation 
Document Subsection:  Neighborhood Planning Project Location:  Alexandria Waterfront 
Managing Department:  Planning & Zoning, Dept. of Project Implementation Reporting Area:  Waterfront Plan, Old Town North, Old Town 
Supporting Department(s):   Multiple Departments Project Category/Priority:  3 – New Facilities  
ORG:  43301600, 50412089 Estimated Useful Life:  Varies   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 65,358,000 3,868,000 1,500,000 760,000 5,800,000 7,250,000 5,520,000 5,800,000 11,340,000 9,270,000 1,580,000 12,670,000 61,490,000

Financing Plan
Prior City  Funding 3,623,000 3,623,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TIP - Cash 245,000 245,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash Capital 0 0 1,000,000 110,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,110,000
Prior Year/Close-Out - City 0 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000
General Obligation Bonds 53,930,000 0 0 0 5,800,000 7,250,000 2,520,000 5,200,000 11,340,000 7,570,000 1,580,000 12,670,000 53,930,000
Private Capital Contributions 5,950,000 0 0 650,000 0 0 3,000,000 600,000 0 1,700,000 0 0 5,950,000
Total Financing Plan 65,358,000 3,868,000 1,500,000 760,000 5,800,000 7,250,000 5,520,000 5,800,000 11,340,000 9,270,000 1,580,000 12,670,000 61,490,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD
Cumulative Impact TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Waterfront Small Area Plan Implementation (w/ Construction Funding)

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  Beginning in FY 2018, funding is included to begin implementation of capital infrastructure elements of the Waterfront Plan.

Project Description & Justification 
This project provides continued funding for implementation of the 
Alexandria Waterfront Small Area Plan approved by City Council in 
January 2012 and the Landscape and Flood Mitigation Design (Olin 
plan) approved by City Council in June 2014. Further direction from 
City Council was provided January 2015 following a detailed cost and 
sequencing analysis and community outreach program to set 
implementation priorities. For the time period FY 2016 – 2025, $61.5 
million would be provided to fund flood mitigation and Phase I projects 
in the core Waterfront area.  
 
For the first time in the City’s Capital Improvement Plan, funding for 
both design and construction is programmed for the following priority 
projects: 
 
• Strand Street Utility and Right-of-Way Improvements: Design 

and construction of miscellaneous utility relocations, utility 
improvements, roadway and sidewalk improvements within the 
“core area” in accordance with approved plans and to facilitate 
flood mitigation improvements. 
 

• Flood Mitigation: Design and construction of flood mitigation 
components in accordance with the approved plans. The 
improvements are located within the “core area,” bounded by 
Queen Street, Duke Street and Union Street and include shoreline 
bulkhead, storm sewer, and storm water pump station 
infrastructure. 

 
• Waterfront Landscape Architecture:  Design coordination of 

public spaces within the approved plans with new Waterfront 
development, including parks and pedestrian connectivity along 
the waterfront. Design and construction of landscape architecture 
improvements associated with flood mitigation components, 
including a continuous riverfront promenade.   
  

     
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 1 – Economic 
Development 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Increase the value of the real estate tax base 
• Increase the economic benefits of tourism 
• Promote neighborhoods that are amenity-rich 
• Promote neighborhoods that are inclusive and diverse 
• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 

our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 
 
Focus Area:  Healthy & Thriving Residents 

• Improve the quality of residents’ leisure time 
 
Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure government is accountable to the community 
• Ensure the fiscal strength of the City government 
• Achieve the results the community values 

 
Focus Area:  Safe, Secure & Just Community 

• Reduce harm to people or property from disasters 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• Windmill Hill Park Master Plan approved by City Council, 

April 2003 
• 2012 Waterfront Small Area Plan adopted by City Council, 

February 2012 
• Union Street Corridor Study adopted April 2013 

 
 

Additional Operating Budget Impact – Next Page 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 100



 
Waterfront Small Area Plan Implementation (Continued) 

 
• Union Street Corridor Recommendations:  Continued implementation of approved short and midterm recommendations 

of the Union Street Corridor Study to promote a higher level of pedestrian friendly mobility along Union Street by minimizing 
conflicts between pedestrians, bicyclists and motorists including cars, motor coaches, and the trolley.   
 

• King and Union Street Improvements:  Crosswalks and other improvements at King and Union, including possible 
installation of a pedestrian plaza with outdoor seating on the unit block of King Street, funded by the Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP). Annual funding for operating costs for these improvements will need to be identified before the 
improvements can be implemented. 

 
Funding is anticipated to come in part from developer contributions and incremental taxes generated by new development along the Waterfront, 
as described in the adopted Waterfront Small Area Plan. As specific elements of the project are better defined, “stand-alone” projects will 
be created and moved to the appropriate section of the CIP document. 
 
Additional Operating Impacts 
Operating impacts will be determined based on specific infrastructure and amenity improvements added when funding is available. When funding 
for improvements is identified, there will be annual operating impacts associated with stormwater and new parks once those projects are 
implemented. 
 
 
 
 
  

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 101



Oronoco Outfall 
Document Subsection:  Waterways Maintenance & Improvements Project Location:  Oronoco St. from Lee St. to Waterfront  
Managing Department:  Transportation & Environmental Services Reporting Area:  Waterfront    
Supporting Department(s):   N/A Project Category/Priority: 2 – Renovations/Existing Assets 
ORG:   52411856 Estimated Useful Life:  50+ years   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 6,761,505 6,461,505 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000

Financing Plan
Prior City  Funding 5,535,000 5,535,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash Capital   300,000 0 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000
Private Capital Contributions 926,505 926,505 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Financing Plan 6,761,505 6,461,505 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Oronoco Outfall

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  An additional $300,000 was added to this project in FY 2016 to prov ide a sufficient project contingency for the dredging and capping activ ities.

Project Description & Justification 
The Office of Environmental Quality (a division of Transportation & 
Environmental Services) continues to actively manage environmental 
impacts associated with the former City owned manufactured gas plant 
that once operated at the corner of North Lee and Oronoco Streets. 
The plant historically supplied coal-derived natural gas for lighting 
Alexandria and subsequently left residue in the underlying soil and 
ground water that have been the ongoing source of oily substances 
evident beneath the observation deck at the end of Oronoco Street.  
 
As a part of the Corrective Action Plan (CAP) undertaken by the City 
and approved by the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 
(VDEQ) through the voluntary remediation program, the City 
constructed a bio-remediation system at the foot of Oronoco Street to 
eliminate the discharge of the oily substances into the Potomac River. 
This part of the project was completed in July 2013.   
 
Phase II of the project consists of dredging the impacted material. Final 
plans and specifications will be put out to bid in the second half of 
FY2015, with construction anticipated to begin in the first half of 
FY2016 and be completed in approximately two months. The project 
design and construction schedule have been approved by the Virginia 
Department of Environmental Quality through their voluntary 
remediation program. 
 
Completion of this project will mitigate the discharge of petroleum 
impacted groundwater from the former City owned manufactured gas 
plant to the subsurface beyond the original site boundaries and into the 
Potomac River. 
 
An additional $300,000 in funding is added to the project in FY 2016 to 
provide contingencies for the above dredging and capping project 
construction. In addition, the City will be discussing with VDEQ what 
additional steps beyond the dredging and capping project will be 
needed to close out the site through the VRP program.  
 
 
 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 2  – Health & Environment 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Improve the health of City waterways 
• Sustain the natural quality of land within the City 
• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 

our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• T&ES Strategic Plan:  Key Result Area - Meet or exceed 

state federal requirements of the City's MS4 and combined 
sewer permits. 

• Eco-City Charter adopted by City Council, June 2008 
• Environmental Action Plan 2030 approved by City Council, 

June 2009 
 

 
Additional Operating Budget Impact 

Funding in the amount of $150,000 is included as part of the FY 
2016 Stormwater budget from the reserved 0.5 cents for 
stormwater on the base real estate tax rate. Annual funding is 
provided for the operation and maintenance of the remediation 
system that is now in operation, as well as on-going free product 
recovery efforts adjacent to the source area. As this funding has 
been budgeted in prior year budgets, there is no additional 
operating budget funding required above current funding. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 105



City Marina Waterfront Dredging 
Document Subsection:   Waterways Maintenance & Improvements Project Location:   City Marina (King St. at Potomac River) 
Managing Department:  Dept. of Project Implementation Reporting Area:  Waterfront 
Supporting Department(s):   Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities Project Category/Priority:  2 – Renovations/Existing Assets  
ORG:   43412207 Estimated Useful Life:  5-6 years  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 4,500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,500,000

Financing Plan
Cash Capital   500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 500,000
General Obligation Bonds 4,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,000,000
Total Financing Plan 4,500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,500,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

City Marina Waterfront Dredging

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  Planned funding in FY 2019 - 2020 in last year's CIP moved back to FY 2021 - 2022 based on recent completion of the FY 2015 Waterfront dredging project. Total cost reduced from 
$5.5 million to $4.5 million based on projected final costs of the current dredging project.

Project Description & Justification 
This project provides for the dredging of the City Marina from the 
Torpedo Factory to Founders Park. Dredging work for this area is done 
on average every five to six years, depending upon the rate of 
sediment deposited by the river, which is dependent on the number 
and severity of major storms.   
 
The work is necessary to prevent the accumulation of silt at the marina 
causing a loss of usable slip space. The current plan calls for dredging 
to be performed in the FY 2021 – 2022 time frame, with design work 
being performed in the year prior to dredging.   
 
This project will improve the level of service and increase the extent of 
benefit to residents and visitors at the City’s Marina. 
 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 1 – Economic 
Development 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 
our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 

• Increase the economic benefits of tourism 
• Improve the health of the City’s waterways 
• Increase transportation system mobility, connectivity, 

and accessibility that supports the City’s economy 
 
Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure the fiscal strength of the City government 
• Achieve the results the community values 

 
External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 

• 2012 Waterfront Small Area Plan adopted by City Council, 
February 2012 

• The City Marina Waterfront Dredging project is supported by 
the completed Marina Condition Assessment and is 
included in the three-year business plan of the Recreation 
Parks and Cultural Activity Department. 
 

 
Additional Operating Budget Impact 

An additional impact to the operating budget is not anticipated. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Community Development

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 106



Recreation and Parks 
Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 Capital Improvement Program 

Summary of Projects 

 

CIP Seciton/Subsection/Project FY 16 FY 17 FY 18 FY 19 FY 20 FY 21 FY 22 FY 23 FY 24 FY 25
TOTAL

FY 16-25
Recreation & Parks

Park Maintenance & Improvements
Restaurant Depot Contribution Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Requirements 450,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 1,950,000
Ball Court Renovations 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 1,500,000
Park Renovations CFMP 270,000 270,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 416,000 3,868,000
Waterfront Parks CFMP 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 500,000
Playground Renovations CFMP 912,000 475,000 522,000 570,000 622,000 622,000 665,000 665,000 665,000 665,000 6,383,000
Tree & Shrub Capital Maintenance 226,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 3,160,000
Renovation and Proactive Capital Management of Urban Forest 0 0 0 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 2,100,000
Soft Surface Trails 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 1,200,000
Water Management & Irrigation 0 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 128,000 1,152,000
Major Asphalt Resurfacing in Parks 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 2,500,000
Athletic Field Restroom Renovations 370,000 370,000 350,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,090,000
Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead 5,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000,000
Park Maintenance Facilities 0 30,000 250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280,000
Athletic Field Improvements (incl. Synthetic Turf) 0 1,610,000 2,500,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 18,110,000

Recreation Facility Maintenance
City Marina Maintenance 190,000 340,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 1,250,000
Public Pools 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 520,000
Recreation Centers CFMP 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 7,000,000
Recreation Facilities Security Review 135,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 135,000

Renovated or New Recreation Facilities
Chinquapin Aquatics Center  0 4,500,000 17,850,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,350,000
Warwick Pool Renovation 0 2,300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,300,000
Braddock Area Plan Park 0 0 0 0 703,605 0 0 0 0 0 703,605
Patrick Henry Recreation Center 5,943,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,943,000
City Marina Utility Upgrades 187,000 1,063,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,250,000
Citywide Parks Improvements Plan 0 350,000 468,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 818,000
Fort Ward Management Plan Implementation 200,000 275,000 0 400,000 0 170,000 0 150,000 0 200,000 1,395,000

Open Space Acquisition & Development
Open Space Acquisition and Develop. 0 1,500,000 2,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 21,000,000

FY 2016 - 2025 Recreation & Parks Total 15,205,000 15,109,000 26,472,000 8,302,000 8,657,605 7,974,000 7,847,000 7,997,000 7,847,000 8,047,000 113,457,605

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 113

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight

jack.browand
Highlight



Waterfront Parks Renovations Capital Facilities Maintenance Program (CFMP) 
Document Subsection:  Park Maintenance & Improvements Project Location: Waterfront District Parks    
Managing Department:  Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities Reporting Area: Waterfront      
Supporting Department(s):  N/A   Project Category:  1 – Asset Maintenance   
ORG:  TBD Estimated Useful Life: 10 years   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 500,000 0 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 500,000

Financing Plan
Cash Capital   500,000 0 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 500,000
Total Financing Plan 500,000 0 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 500,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Waterfront Parks CFMP

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  This is a new project added for FY 2016 - 2025.

Project Description & Justification 
This project provides annual funding to address the capital 
maintenance needs at the City's waterfront park facilities. Projects are 
determined through an evaluation and analysis of the 2011 and the 
2013 Alexandria Park and Recreation Needs Assessments; current 
facility conditions as evaluated in the 2011 Park Inventory; and 
anticipated impact of the implementation of Waterfront Small Area Plan 
as construction documents are developed, governance decisions are 
made, and operational processes are defined. 
 
The project coincides with improvements in other projects including 
ADA Requirements, Playground CFMP, Soft Surface Trails, and 
Stormwater (T&ES) and Waterfront Small Area Plan implementation. 
Each fiscal year includes subprojects that are grouped to create 
economy of scale benefits. 
 
 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 2 – Health & Environment 
 
Focus Area:  Healthy & Thriving Residents 

• Improve the quality of residents’ leisure time 
• Improve resident’s overall health 

 
Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure the government is accountable to the 
community 

• Ensure the fiscal strength of the government 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote neighborhoods that are amenity-rich 
• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 

our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• Strategic Master Plan for Open Space, Parks & Recreation 

approved by City Council, May 2003 
• 2010/2011 Dog Parks Master Plan 
• 2011 & 2013  Parks and Recreation Needs Assessment 
• 2012 Waterfront Small Area Plan 
• 2014 Landscape and Flood Mitigation Concept Design  

 
 

Additional Operating Budget Impact 
An additional impact to the operating budget is not anticipated. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 122



 

Waterfront Parks Renovations CFMP (Continued) 

Waterfront Parks Renovations CFMP Category 1 Project List 
 

  

Description
Repair/Replace Pavers and Slate
Drainage installations
Equipment Shelter (Payne Street)
Volleyball Court Renovations
Emergency/Severe Weather Repairs
Total Fiscal Year 2016

Description
Trail & Timber Renovations in Oronoco Bay Park
Repair/Replace Pavers and Slate 
Oronoco Bay North Pier Deck/Rail Replacement
Volleyball Court Renovations 
City Standard Park Entrance Signs 
Emergency/Severe Weather Repairs
Total Fiscal Year 2017

Description
Trail & Timber Renovations in Oronoco Bay Park
Repair/Replace Pavers and Slate 
Oronoco Bay North Pier Deck/Rail Replacement
Volleyball Court Renovations 
City Standard Park Entrance Signs 
Emergency/Severe Weather Repairs
Total Fiscal Year 2018

 $                          10,000 

Fiscal Year 2016
Amount

 $                            3,000 
 $                            7,000 
 $                          25,000 

 $                          10,000 
 $                            6,000 
 $                            5,000 

 $                          50,000 
 $                            5,000 

Fiscal Year 2017
Amount

 $                            6,000 
 $                            3,000 
 $                          20,000 

 $                          50,000 
 $                            5,000 
 $                            6,000 

 $                          50,000 

Fiscal Year 2018
Amount

 $                            6,000 
 $                            3,000 
 $                          20,000 
 $                          10,000 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 123



Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead 
Document Subsection:  Park Maintenance & Improvements    Project Location: 501 S. Union St.  
Managing Department:  Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities, Dept. of Project Implementation Reporting Area:  Waterfront    
Supporting Department(s):  Transportation & Environmental Services   Project Category: 2 – Renovations/Existing Assets  
ORG:  44801661 Estimated Useful Life:  25 years   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 6,997,500 1,997,500 5,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000,000

Financing Plan
Prior City  Funding 1,962,500 1,962,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
GO Bonds 5,000,000 0 5,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000,000
Private Capital Contributions 35,000 35,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Financing Plan 6,997,500 1,997,500 5,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  Planned funding in last year's CIP of $3.7 million is increased to $5.0 million based on updated preliminary cost estimates and including project management costs.

Project Description & Justification 
This project consists of the complete replacement of the existing 
bulkhead at Windmill Hill Park. Park improvements along the shoreline 
will not be implemented until the bulkhead is replaced.  Full scale 
planning, design and engineering are planned in FY 2015, with 
construction anticipated to begin in late-FY 2016. 
 
The replacement of the bulkhead is planned to be Phase I of the 
Windmill Hill Park development. The existing bulkhead is 
approximately 900 feet long, surrounds the perimeter of a cove located 
on the west bank of the Potomac River, and is located approximately 
0.5 miles north of the Woodrow Wilson Bridge. The surrounding land is 
a City park that fronts on South Union Street and located adjacent to 
residential housing. The total length of perimeter shoreline in the cove 
is approximately 1,200 feet. The bulkhead is constructed of wood 
timbers and concrete slabs and is in a state of advanced deterioration, 
as evidenced by ongoing soil erosion behind the bulkhead and loss of 
wall debris into the cove. The area is subject to tidal currents and the 
cove has no protection from waves and flotsam. The bulkhead was 
inspected by external consulting engineers in February 2012, who 
rated it in “critical” condition with vertical and horizontal movement of 
structural components.  
 
Replacement of the bulkhead would counteract some of the current 
deterioration along the shoreline. The project plan calls for the least 
amount of disturbance by performing the work as quickly as possible. 
The project will be designed to meet resident expectations for durability 
and aesthetics. 
 
Planning is underway to prioritize work needed to address other public 
safety issues, as well as to consider other planned improvements 
throughout the park consistent with the adopted Windmill Hill Master 
Plan. Additional funding may be required to implement all of the 
identified needs, once final costs of the bulkhead replacement are 
known.  
 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal: Goal 6 – Public Safety 
 
Focus Area Team:  Safe, Secure, & Just Community 

• Reduce harm to people or property from building 
failures 

 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote neighborhoods that are amenity-rich 
• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 

our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 
• Sustain the natural quality of land within the City 
• Improve the health of City waterways 

 
Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure the government is accountable to the 
community 

• Achieves results the community values 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• Windmill Hill Park Master Plan approved by City Council, 

April 2003 
• 2012 Waterfront Small Area Plan adopted by City Council, 

February 2012 
• 2012 Union Street Corridor Study adopted April 2013 
 
 

Additional Operating Budget Impact 
An additional impact to the operating budget is not anticipated. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 135



City Marina Maintenance 
Document Subsection:  Recreation Facility Maintenance    Project Location:  107 N. Union St.   
Managing Department:  Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities Reporting Area:  Waterfront    
Supporting Department(s):  General Services Project Category:  1 – Asset Maintenance   
ORG:   44801684 Estimated Useful Life:  Varies    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 1,775,613 525,613 190,000 340,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 1,250,000

Financing Plan
Prior City  Funding 525,613 525,613 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash Capital   900,000 0 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 900,000
GO Bonds 350,000 0 100,000 250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 350,000
Total Financing Plan 1,775,613 525,613 190,000 340,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 1,250,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

City Marina Maintenance

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  Funding added in FY 2016 and FY 2017 to repairs sections of the City  Marina seawalls. Funding added for FY 2025. No other changes.

Project Description & Justification 
This project maintains the level of service provided to residents and 
visitors at the City of Alexandria Marina. The Marina is a destination for 
the City and requires continued maintenance and upgrades to keep 
tourists and boaters visiting the City, and must be maintained to ensure 
safety for its users. City Marina maintenance projects are prioritized to 
fund safety and security items as the first priority. Items to improve 
visitor safety and security, Department of Homeland Security 
recommendations, and United States Coast Guard security 
recommendations are core projects.  
 
A Marina Facilities Assessment, completed in 2013, provided details of 
the condition of infrastructure and identified project priorities within the 
Marina boundaries. Planned projects are consistent with the 
recommendations provided in the 2013 City Marina Facility 
Assessment. The following projects will be funded to ensure the public 
health and safety: storm damage repairs, fire suppression repairs, 
railing repairs and improvements, ADA compliance and access, 
security measures (including cameras and other physical measures) 
and surface repairs and improvements. 
 
Annual maintenance funding enhances the level of service currently 
provided to users and visitors of the City’s Marina, while maintaining 
the value of the Marina’s capital infrastructure. 
 
Infrastructure projects include funding in FY 2016 and FY 2017 to 
implement interim stabilization and repairs to the northern end of the 
Marina seawall/bulkhead. The interim measures will support planned 
flood mitigation and Founders Park enhancements consistent with the 
Waterfront Plan Implementation in later years. 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 1 – Economic 
Development 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 
our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 

• Increase the economic benefits of tourism to the City 
• Increase transportation system mobility, connectivity, 

and accessibility that supports the City’s economy 

Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure the government is accountable to the 
community 

• Ensure the fiscal strength of the government 
 
Focus Area:  Healthy & Thriving Residents 

• Improve the quality of residents’ leisure time 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• Waterfront Small Area Plan adopted by City Council, 

February 2012 
• 2013 City Marina Facility Assessment 
 
 

Additional Operating Budget Impact 
An additional impact to the operating budget is not anticipated. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 138



 

City Marina Maintenance (Continued) 

City Marina Maintenance Category 1 Project List 
 

 

  

Description Amount
Severe Weather Repairs  $             16,000 
Walkway Repairs  $             20,000 
Electrical Repairs  $             10,000 
Plumbing Repairs  $             10,000 
ADA Compliance Boater Restroom Heating  $             20,000 
ADA Compliance Boater Restroom Clearance  $               2,000 
Security Camera Upgrade  $             12,000 
Seawall Repairs  $           100,000 
Total Fiscal Year 2016  $           190,000 

Description Amount
Severe Weather Repairs  $             16,000 
Walkway Repairs  $             20,000 
Electrical Repairs  $             10,000 
Plumbing Repairs  $             10,000 
ADA Compliance Railings  $             34,000 
Seawall Repairs  $           250,000 
Total Fiscal Year 2017  $           340,000 

Description Amount
Severe Weather Repairs  $             15,000 
Walkway Repairs  $             10,000 
Electrical Repairs  $             10,000 
Plumbing Repairs  $             10,000 
ADA Compliance Signage  $             11,000 
Fire Cabinets   $             11,000 
Fire Alarm Installation  $             23,000 
Total Fiscal Year 2018  $             90,000 

Fiscal Year 2016

Fiscal Year 2017

Fiscal Year 2018

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 139



City Marina Utility Upgrades 
Document Subsection:  Renovated or New Recreation Facilities  Project Location:  107 N. Union St.  
Managing Department:  Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities Reporting Area:  Waterfront    
Supporting Department(s):  General Services  Project Category/Priority:  2 – Renovations/Existing Assets   
ORG:  TBD    Estimated Useful Life: 15 years   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

  

A (B+M) B C D E F G H I J K L M (C:L)
Total Budget & 

Financing
Through
FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Total
FY 2016-2025

Expenditure Budget 1,250,000 0 187,000 1,063,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,250,000

Financing Plan
Cash Capital   187,000 0 187,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 187,000
GO Bonds 1,063,000 0 0 1,063,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,063,000
Total Financing Plan 1,250,000 0 187,000 1,063,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,250,000

Additional Operating Impact
Annual Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative Impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

City Marina Utility Upgrades

Changes from Prior Year CIP:  No changes from prior year CIP.

Project Description & Justification 
The existing Marina electrical service is not consistent with the service 
needs of contemporary vessels that use the marina today. Upgrades 
would meet modern usage standards of larger boats. The existing 
Marina electrical service was designed based on loads and capacity 
associated with vessels constructed during the late 1980’s. This is not 
consistent with the service needs of contemporary vessels that use the 
Marina today. At present, the underperforming system exhibits ground 
fault electrical breakers being thrown due to service / supply / need 
differences in power and amperage and visitor boats incurring damage 
to their electrical systems due to insufficient or fluctuating current. 
 
The current plan proposes funding for engineering of this project in FY 
2016 with subsequent construction in FY 2017. Funding for this project 
includes evaluation of the existing system, design and upgrade to the 
full facility; pier/dockside electrical service; and replacement of pier 
utility pedestals consistent with current use and locations.  
 
Additional funds may be necessary if the marina is expanded or 
modified. Additional funds may be necessary for implementation 
should the current configuration be modified as a part of the Waterfront 
Small Area planning process. 
 
This project will improve the level of service and increase the extent of 
benefit to residents and visitors at the City’s Marina. 
 

City’s Strategic Plan & Budget Guidance 
Primary Strategic Plan Goal:  Goal 1 – Economic 
Development 
 
Focus Area:  Accountable, Effective, & Well-Managed 
Government 

• Ensure the government is accountable to the 
community 

• Ensure the fiscal strength of the government 
 
Focus Area:  Livable, Green, & Prospering City 

• Promote an attractive urban environment that reflects 
our history and provides well-functioning infrastructure 

• Increase the economic benefits of tourism to the City 
• Increase transportation system mobility, connectivity, 

and accessibility that supports the City’s economy 
 
Focus Area:  Healthy & Thriving Residents 

• Improve the quality of residents’ leisure time 
 

External or Internal Adopted Plan or Recommendation 
• Waterfront Small Area Plan adopted by City Council, 

February 2012 
• 2013 City Marina Facility Condition Assessment 
 
 

Additional Operating Budget Impact 
An additional impact to the operating budget is not anticipated. 
 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia Recreation & Parks

Proposed FY 2016 - 2025 CIP Page 149



ALEXANDRIA WATERFRONT 
SMALL AREA PLAN IMPLEMENTATION

COMMON ELEMENTS NARRATIVE
12 SEPTEMBER 2014



TABLE OF CONTENTS
. WATERFRONT SMALL AREA PLAN GOALS 1

COMMON ELEMENTS STRATEGY 1

. COMMON ELEMENTS - MATERIALS 2
MATERIALS - STREETS 2
MATERIALS - PROMENADE 3
MATERIALS - WATERFRONT ROOMS 4
MATERIALS - PRECEDENT IMAGES 5

. COMMON ELEMENTS - FURNISHINGS 6
FURNISHINGS - WATERFRONT ROOMS 6
FURNISHINGS - PRECEDENT IMAGES 7

. COMMON ELEMENTS - LIGHTING 8
LIGHTING - STREETS 8
LIGHTING - PROMENADE 9
LIGHTING - WATERFRONT ROOMS 10
LIGHTING - CONCEPT 11
LIGHTING - PRECEDENT IMAGES 12

. COMMON ELEMENTS - SUSTAINABILITY 13
SUSTAINABILITY AND ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS 13
SUSTAINABILITY AND ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS - MATRIX 14
PRECEDENT: WASHINGTON CANAL PARK: WASHINGTON DC 15
PRECEDENT: WASHINGTON CANAL PARK: WASHINGTON DC 16



1

WATERFRONT SMALL AREA PLAN GOALS

COMMON ELEMENTS STRATEGY - PHASE 1

Many of the goals outlined in the Waterfront Small Area Plan (WSAP), can be supported through the common 
elements distribution throughout the site. Preliminary design guidelines for the common elements developed within 
this phase support the goals outlined in the WSAP which is to create a waterfront that is: Authentic, Connected, 
Inclusive, Dynamic, Variable, Manageable, Sustainable, Compatible, Permeable, Creative. 

The guidelines documented in this phase reference precedents for materials, site furnishings, lighting, and 
sustainability. The actual common elements will be decided in a future phase. However, using the WSAP goals 
as the driver, OLIN created a multi-layered strategy that envisions three distinct types of opportunities that utilize 
different design objectives to acknowledge the unique character and relationships of the space to their immediate 
adjacencies, as well as to the larger city context. 

The  rst layer of the strategy is to accentuate the goal of connecting the City of Alexandria to its waterfront through 
it’s street grid. The design recommendation is to bring City Standards (site furnishings and lighting) into the 
waterfront spaces within the Street End Gardens. Continuing these approved City Standard elements, along with 
appropriately placed tree planting, will create a visual connectivity between the City and it’s waterfront. 

The second layer of the strategy for the common elements is to acknowledge the water’s edge as an organizing 
element. The promenade or spine at the water’s edge will have a unique set of common elements that allow 
visitors from the land, as well as the water, to better recognize the connectivity of the waterfront’s variety of spaces 
and amenities, through elements such as the granite banded promenade that provide a level of consistency, but 
also allows  exibility for addressing the unique opportunities within each area of the plan. 

The third layer of the strategy is to acknowledge the variety of experiences (existing and proposed) and celebrate 
them by creating “rooms” within the larger areas. These rooms will visually support the speci  c programmatic 
elements and opportunities proposed within the speci  c site. The common elements within the rooms will vary as 
you move through the entire length of the waterfront. 

The following drawings and precedent imagery illustrate the above concepts and provide more speci  c guidelines 
for the layering strategy proposed in this phase.



2

MATERIALS - LAYER 1, STREETS

COMMON ELEMENTS - MATERIALS

OLIN looked to the historic materials within Old Town Alexandria for precedents to appropriately ground the 
design within it’s context. The design utilizes surface materials, such as granite bands, to mark historic features, 
integrating art and history into the design. The materials shall be durable, and appropriately detailed to minimize 
maintenance while facilitating a variety of programming opportunities. 



3

MATERIALS - LAYER 2, PROMENADE



4

MATERIALS - LAYER 3, WATERFRONT ROOMS

ROBINSON TERMINAL SOUTH PIER
CIVIC BUILDING PLAZA
POINT LUMLEY PIER
WATERFRONT PARK PLAZA
TRANSITIONAL PLAZA
KING STREET PIER
FITZGERALD SQUARE

KING STREET UNIT BLOCK
CITY MARINA / TORPEDO PLAZA
BOULDER STEPPING STONES
ROBINSON TERMINAL NORTH PIER
WYTHE STREET PLAZA

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6
7  

1 

7 10 

8 
9

10 
11 
12

2 

3 

4 
5 

6 

9 

8 

11 

12 



5

MATERIALS - PRECEDENT IMAGES

CLAY BRICK STONE DUST STONE COBBLES

GRANITE PAVING EXPOSED AGGREGATE 
CONCRETE

STEPPING STONES IN STONE FINES

BOARDWALK RESIN BONDED 
AGREGATE

GRANITE CURB



6

FURNISHINGS - LAYER 3, WATERFRONT ROOMS

GRANITE SEAT WALL
CHAISE LOUNGE
GLIDER SEATING
ROOFTOP OUTDOOR DINING
WATERFRONT STEPS
FLEXIBLE SEATING
MOUNTING BLOCKS

STEPPED SEATING AT FOUNTAIN
BOULDER STEPS
PICNIC TABLES
ADIRONDACK LOUNGE CHAIRS
PROMENADE CLASSIQUE

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

7 7 

10 10 

8 
9
10 
11 
12

2 2 3 3 

4 4 
4 4 4 4 

4 4 
5 5 

5 5 

6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 
9 9 

9 9 8 8 

11 11 

12 12 

COMMON ELEMENTS - FURNISHINGS

Understanding the complexity of the approval process for site furnishings, OLIN utilized the City Standards for 
site furnishings throughout the site. The continuity of using these site furnishings along the streets and into the 
Street End Gardens allows a visual connection between the City and its waterfront.  The site furnishings along the 
promenade shall evoke a unique experience outside of the City Standards, to allow users to gain a sense of space 
along the waterfront’s spine. OLIN envisions using a custom bench design speci  cally for the Alexandria Waterfront 
that is durable and timeless. Unique opportunities within the various park “rooms” will allow for moments of 
discovery and intrigue through movable site furnishings that provide users an opporunity to interact with the site 
and other users. 



7

FURNISHINGS - PRECEDENT IMAGES



8

LIGHTING - LAYER 1, STREETS

COMMON ELEMENTS - LIGHTING

Using the multi-layer strategy outlined in the introduction, the lighting design proposes using the standard 

maintenance requirements), and utilizes solar power accent lighting in plant beds. Technology will be utilized to link 
all waterfront lighting to a main computer that uses photovotaic sensors and software that programs and controls 

ongoing as the project moves into future phases.



9

LIGHTING - LAYER 2, PROMENADE



10

LIGHTING - LAYER 3, WATERFRONT ROOMS

WOLFE STREET END CATENARY LIGHTING
DUKE STREET END CATENARY LIGHTING
CIVIC BUILDING LIGHTING
PLAY AREA WHIMSICAL INTERACTIVE LIGHTS
TRELLIS UPLIGHTING
PRINCE STREET END CATENARY LIGHTING
WATERFRONT PARK MOONLIGHTING

SHADE STRUCTURE LIGHTING
FOUNTAIN LIGHTING
TREE LIGHTING
SHADE STRUCTURE LIGHTING
TORPEDO FACTORY LIGHTING
SHADE STRUCTURE LIGHTING
GAZEBO FOUNTAIN LIGHTING

SHADE STRUCTURE LIGHTING
ORONOCO STREET END CATENARY LIGHTING
BOX CAR THEATER
WYTHE STREET PLAZA LIGHTING

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

1 
7 

14 
10 

17 

8 
9
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 

15 
16 
17 
18

2 
3 4 

5 

6 

13 9 
16 

8 15 

11 

18

12 



11

LIGHTING - CONCEPT



12

LIGHTING - PRECEDENT IMAGES



13

SUSTAINABILITY AND ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS

COMMON ELEMENTS - SUSTAINABILITY

The WSAP challenged the project to be self-sustaining economically, environmentally and operationally. The 

The social sustainability of a site not only considers the quality of the space and opportunities for social 

potential income generators early in a design. 

Careful material selection can contribute to sustainability goals through increased durability and reduced 
maintenance needs. A conscious choice to use local, responsibly produced products demonstrates a commitment 
toward the broader goals of sustainability.

Habitat enhancement through planting can be incorporated in a variety of means. Using planting that is native and 
adaptive reduces the need for maintenance resources while providing habitat for local fauna. Incorporating habitat 
enhancement into the project area can serve as educational opportunities as well. 

additional choice that can be made to reduce energy needs. Planting of trees and vegetation can mitigate the urban 

emissions.

Managing stormwater and increasing the quality of the water before it returns to the river reduces the ill affect of 
urban development on the hydrological cycle and restores the larger natural systems. The OLIN design also looks at 
strategies for potential reuse. 

the opportunities to utilize each sustainability measure. Given each block’s proposed design elements, the potential 

enhancement due to the dominance of hardscaping within the plan. While the more park-like settings have a much 
higher potential for making an impact under this category. OLIN consciously incorporates sustainable performance in 
tandem with design aesthetics.



14

SOCIAL
•Quality of the 
space
•Opportunities for 
interaction
•Financial

MATERIALS
•Durability / 
Maintenance
•Local
•Responsible
production

HABITAT
ENHANCEMENT 
THROUGH PLANTING

•Native / Adaptive
•Biodiversity
•Low maintenance

ENERGY
•Renewable Solar
•Urban heat island 
mitigation
•Efficient Lighting

WATER
•Quality
•Stormwater
Management
•Potential for 
Reuse

WILKES - DUKE

DUKE - KING

KING - QUEEN

QUEEN -
ORONOCO

PENDLETON -
MADISON

MADISON -
MONTGOMERY

HIGH POTENTIAL MID POTENTIAL LOW POTENTIAL

SUSTAINABILITY AND ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS - MATRIX



15

PRECEDENT: WASHINGTON CANAL PARK: WASHINGTON DC



16

PRECEDENT: WASHINGTON CANAL PARK: WASHINGTON DC



 
City of Alexandria, Virginia 

 
Department of Project Implementation 

 
 

WATERFRONT PROJECT STATUS 

Date March 10, 2015 

Project Name Waterfront Plan Implementation 

Description Project status updates of public and private Waterfront area projects. 
 

# Project  Dept. Status 
City Projects 

1 Lower King Street Multi-Modal 
Feasibility Study  TES Study on hold pending further Old Town 

parking analysis. 

2 Union Street Corridor Study TES 
King Street unit block pedestrian plaza 
construction on hold pending funding source for 
ongoing maintenance and operation. 

3 Oronoco Street Outfall 
Remediation TES Phase 2 (dredging) final design is underway.  

Construction anticipated for Fall 2015. 

4 Marina Wharf Strengthening RPCA Contract awarded, processing change order to 
address unforeseen field conditions. 

5 City Marina Dredging RPCA Dredging construction was completed 01/29/15. 

6 Windmill Hill Park Shoreline 
Rehabilitation RPCA Community Meeting #1 held 02/12/15. 

Community Meeting #2 scheduled for 04/13/15. 

7 Blackwall Hitch Public Restrooms GS Task order in process to construct restrooms 
independent of restaurant operations. 

8 Waterfront Flood Mitigation DPI Flood mitigation RFP is being prepared and 
anticipated to be advertised Spring 2015. 

  

  Page 1 of 2 
 



 Waterfront Project Status  
 

# Project  Dept. Status 
Private Development 

9 Carr Hotel PZ On-hold pending outcome of lawsuit. 

10 Old Dominion Boat Club 
Clubhouse PZ (DSUP) City Council public hearing 03/14/15. 

11 Robinson Terminal South PZ (DSUP) Planning Commission public hearing 
04/07/15. 

12 Robinson Terminal North PZ (DSUP) Estimated Planning Commission public 
hearing 06/02/15. 

13 Blackwall Hitch Restaurant PZ Projected opening June 2015. 

 
 
 

 Department of Project Implementation Page 2 of 2 
 



1 
 

City of Alexandria, Virginia 
 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
DATE: MARCH 11, 2015 
 
TO: WATERFRONT COMMISSION  
 
FROM: SUSAN K. EDDY, DEPUTY DIRECTOR, PLANNING & ZONING 
  
SUBJECT: WATERFRONT GOVERNANCE MODELS ANALYSIS 
 
 
ISSUE: 
Attached you will find a Waterfront Governance Models Analysis, prepared for the City by BAE 
Urban Economics. Staff will provide a summary on its contents at the Waterfront Commission 
meeting on March 17, 2015. While no set timetable has been established for action on this issue, 
staff will coordinate with the Waterfront Commission when this issue moves forward for action. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City recently hired BAE Urban Economics to prepare background research on waterfront 
governance models and revenue generation options. The consultants worked closely with an 
interdepartmental team (see Staff Section on page 3) and met with relevant Department Directors 
and the City Manager's Office.  The Governance Models Analysis is included as Attachment 1. 
The report on revenue generation options will follow later in the spring. 
 
This investigative research is a direct implementation element of the Waterfront Plan, adopted in 
2012. Pages 136-137 of the Waterfront Plan state:  

 
The Alexandria waterfront is a unique treasure and like many of the country’s most 
important public places, it both requires and deserves a high level of care. 
Implementation activities include identifying service level targets and structuring 
operations and maintenance activities to meet them and developing the capacity for 
enhanced programming of appealing activities and events at various scales and 
locations.  
 
An important implementation step is developing an effective model that continues to 
marshal the high level of interest and expertise of waterfront stakeholders, and 
identifies additional leadership and financial resources to support the Plan’s 
objectives. Both the history and art communities, through the papers attached to this 
Plan as appendices, call for establishment of a non-profit entity with the mission of 
implementing the Plan. While their suggestion focuses on the implementation of the 
history and art elements of the Plan, there will be an equivalent need for leadership in 
supporting the parks and waterside elements of the Plan.  
  



2 
 

Old Town residents have suggested that an oversight body be established to manage 
parking and traffic initiatives and to manage public spaces and programming.  
 
The Plan recommends, as an implementation element, that an implementation 
advisory model be explored, including the potential establishment of one or more 
committees charged with elements of Plan implementation and/ or operations. The 
Waterfront Committee will be part of any implementation equation. 
 

Similarly, the staff report to the City Council that accompanied the adoption of the Phase I 
Landscape and Flood Mitigation Design in June, 2014, noted: 
 

Governance Structure - Expectations for maintenance and programming, as well as the 
quality of architectural design and materials for the public buildings and commissioned 
works of art will be much higher than the norm for City parks, and will likely not be 
possible under the current City structure. In order to advance a financially sustainable 
Waterfront, during Phase II of this project the City will be working with consultants to 
explore options for the governance, revenue sources, management and programming of 
the Waterfront. Options to be studied will include the current multi-departmental 
management by the City, a new City department, a public/private partnership, a land 
trust and other entities. The consultants will be evaluating the legal status, taxing 
authority, bonding authority, revenue sources, etc. for each type of entity. Following 
the consultant’s documentation, staff will work with the City Council and the 
community to select and establish the preferred governing entity. 

DISCUSSION: 
The Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis (Attachment 1) defines and describes 
the following five models.  
 

1. City management. Encompasses the City’s current waterfront governance model, either 
by existing City departments or a new department.  
 
2. New governmental entity. An entity, such as a park district, that is established by the 
City of Alexandria and overseen by an appointed board.  
 
3. Supporting organization. An independently run, private sector entity, such as a 
conservancy, that engages with the City of Alexandria to support one or more key functions 
of waterfront management.  
 
4. Public improvement district or authority. An Improvement District or Authority 
funded through a special assessment levied to properties within its defined service 
boundaries. 
 
5. Management of privately owned public space. An alternative to City of Alexandria 
ownership of certain waterfront spaces, this approach involves enforcement of agreed-to 
public access terms on private land, including property owned by a land trust. 

 



3 
 

The Governance Model chapter describes each model in more detail.  Case studies related to 
each model are found in Model Profiles. Each of the five models was evaluated based on eight 
criteria. The full evaluation, including a summary matrix and key considerations, are found in 
Model Evaluation and Recommendations. 
 
In determining a governance structure for the Alexandria waterfront, a key objective is to 
appropriately balance the authority and accountability of public sector governance with the 
flexibility, efficiency and more entrepreneurial orientation of governance models that are 
managed by private sector entities.  The following summarizes key considerations related to that 
balance. 
 

• There were no strong precedents found for high capacity models solely within a City 
management structure.  However, a supporting organization that has a narrower focus – 
such as marketing or events programming – might pair with a dedicated City department 
(or department sub-division) to provide a governance structure that can approach the 
effectiveness of a more comprehensive supporting organization or improvement district.   

• A typical park authority operates at a scale that is inappropriate (and costly) for the 
amount of land that needs to be managed along the waterfront.  However, the park 
authority model, or a special services district that is managed by the City, offers an 
alternate, City-driven structure in the absence of strong private sector leadership, or the 
presence of strong citizen opposition to private sector management.   

• Improvement districts and conservancies are governance structures that most fully 
incorporate both public and private sector elements.  They can offer benefits of both 
efficiency and accountability, which accounts for why they are so prevalent in large, 
successful, high profile parks.  However, they will require private sector stakeholders to 
drive, at least in part, the establishment of the governance entity.   

• Governance of privately owned public space will have limited relevance to the core areas 
of the waterfront, given that key waterfront properties are all publicly owned.   
 

Given precedents and examples, public/private management is most common and appropriate for 
specific activities that are unique to high profile parks and waterfront public realm.  Key subject 
areas for public/private management include fundraising and financial management, waterfront-
specific maintenance and operations, marketing, and programming.  Other management areas, 
such as planning, basic operations and maintenance, transportation management, and emergency 
services, may be more appropriate within City government, with capacity for coordination on 
these topics available within the new management entity.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis 
 
STAFF: 
Susan K. Eddy, Deputy Director, Department of Planning & Zoning 
Nancy J. Williams, Principal Planner, Department of Planning & Zoning 
Jack Browand, Division Chief, Department of Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Activities  
Titania B. Cross, Deputy Director, Department of General Services 
Anthony Gammon, Acting Deputy Director, Department of Project Implementation 



4 
 

Christopher Bever, Assistant Director, Office of Management and Budget 
Jeffrey F. DuVal, Acting Deputy Director, Department of Transportation and Environmental 
Services 
Pete Mensinger, Special Projects Manager, Department of Code Administration 
Joanna Anderson, Assistant City Attorney 
Michael L. Sharpe, Deputy Fire Chief, Alexandria Fire Department 
Steven Carr, Lieutenant, Alexandria Police Department 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

bae urban economics 
March 2015 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cover photos credit: OLIN Landscape & Flood Mitigation Design 2014  

  



Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................ 1 

About the Study 1 
Governance Models 1 
Model Evaluation 2 
Next Steps 3 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 4 
Assignment Purpose 4 
Report Organization 4 

Governance Models ........................................................................................................................ 6 
Overview of Governance Models 6 
Model 1. City Management 7 
Model 2. New Governmental Entity: Independent Park District or Authority 9 
Model 3. Supporting Organizations:  Conservancies and Friends Organizations 10 
Model 4. Public Improvement District or Authority 12 
Model 5. Privately Owned Public Space 14 

Model Profiles .............................................................................................................................. 16 
Fairfax County Park Authority 16 
Fort Mason Center 17 
Delaware River Waterfront Corporation 18 
Capitol Riverfront BID 20 
The Mosaic District CDA/Merrifield CRA, Fairfax County 22 
New York City Privately Owned Public Spaces (POPS) 23 

Model Evaluation and Key Considerations ................................................................................ 24 
Evaluation Matrix 24 
Key Considerations 28 

Appendix A:  Operations and Staffing Comparisons ................................................................ 31 
Appendix B:  BID Assessments ................................................................................................... 35 
Appendix C: Current Governmental Functions on the Waterfront ........................................... 37 

 
  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis   
 

i  



This page left intentionally blank.

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis   
 

ii  



Executive Summary
About the Study 
The City of Alexandria commissioned BAE Urban Economics, 
Inc. (BAE) to prepare an analysis of governance models for the 
Alexandria waterfront in order to inform decision-making on the 
implementation of the Waterfront Plan.  The objective of this 
analysis is to help chart a path forward by differentiating clear 
alternatives for overseeing waterfront management and 
providing a framework for evaluating them.  
 
This examination recognizes the uniqueness of Alexandria as a place 
and the unique vision that has been created for the Alexandria 
waterfront. There are valuable lessons, approaches and solutions 
found in governance examples from other parks, but there is no “off 
the shelf” structure or governance strategy that precisely fits 
Alexandria’s needs. The analysis and the integration of findings are 
meant to further discussion on key points:  
 
 How can the waterfront be best managed to achieve its 

transformative potential?  
 What is the best balance of public and private sector 

involvement in waterfront governance that ensures public 
benefit while providing the highest level of service?  

 
A revenue generation analysis provides a companion piece to the 
governance analysis that explores the financial dimensions of the 
activities to be undertaken by a waterfront governance entity. 

Governance Models 
The analysis defines and describes the following models. The 
Governance Model chapter describes each model in more detail.  
Case studies related to each model are found in Model Profiles. 

1. City management. Encompasses the City’s current waterfront 
governance model, either by existing City departments or a new 
department.  
 
2. New governmental entity. An entity, such as a park district, that is 
established by the City of Alexandria and overseen by an appointed 
board.  
 
3. Supporting organization. An independently run, private sector 
entity, such as a conservancy, that engages with the City of 
Alexandria to support one or more key functions of waterfront 
management.  
 
4. Public improvement district or authority. An Improvement District 
or Authority funded through a special assessment levied to 
properties within its defined service boundaries. 
 
5. Management of privately owned public space. An alternative to 
City of Alexandria ownership of certain waterfront spaces, this 
approach involves enforcement of agreed-to public access terms on 
private land, including property owned by a land trust. 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

1 



 

 
Model Evaluation  
Each of the five models was evaluated based on eight criteria, described below. The full evaluation, including a summary matrix and key 
considerations, are found in Model Evaluation and Key Considerations. 
 
Profile captures the degree to which an entity establishes a national 
and/or regional identity in support of a world class waterfront. 
Conservancy organizations typically have the highest profile corresponding 
to the attraction of significant donors.  
 
Operational Independence reflects the ability of the entity to make 
decisions and operate independently of the City government. For 
managing entities outside the City government, the balance between 
operational independence and public accountability is established with the 
setup of board seats, funding streams, and accountability measures 
contained in the management agreement with the City and the 
organization’s bylaws. Operational independence, however, results in less 
control and accountability by the City. 
 
Operational Efficiency reflects the degree to which the entity can operate 
efficiently and minimize redundancy, using public funds and other revenue 
as efficiently as possible.  Models that operate outside of government 
(such as large supporting organizations and improvement districts) 
typically have more flexibility in staffing, hiring, and procurement, and are 
often considered to be more responsive and efficient in their operations. 
 
Access to Funding refers to the entity’s ability to access the broadest 
range of funding sources. An improvement district offers the potential to 
tap into a dedicated public revenue stream from a special assessment, as 
well as the largest range of enterprise and philanthropic funds.  

Stakeholder Involvement reflects the degree to which stakeholders have 
direct involvement and/or control. Stakeholder engagement and control 
generally correspond to an organization’s operational independence.  
 
Enterprise Orientation captures an entity’s ability to provide commercial 
and enterprise activity to activate the waterfront with services and 
programming. All models examined have the potential to engage in 
enterprise activities. The precedent of successful supporting organizations 
and improvement districts makes them the most enterprise-oriented.  
 
Risks and Their Mitigation covers the risks to the City of Alexandria and its 
taxpayers associated with the management structure. In general, risks to 
the government relate to its possible failure to reach its objectives in a 
governance structure that it controls, or its failure to control the outcome 
of a structure that involves more private sector stewardship.  
 
Startup Considerations reflect the ease with which an entity can be 
established, given political, legislative, and other considerations.  A 
departure from current operations, the scale of effort and availability of 
precedents will impact start up.  An entity that is predominantly managed 
by private sector stakeholders will to a large extent need its establishment 
to be championed and driven by those stakeholders.  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

2 



Next Steps 
With this framework and analysis in hand, the City of Alexandria, 
waterfront stakeholders and Alexandria residents can begin a 
public discussion on the most appropriate governance structure or 
structures for waterfront management. 
 
Initial discussion should consider the following topics: 
 
 Values.  What values are most important to Alexandrians in 

management of the waterfront?  How will those values be 
carried through to the setup of the waterfront management 
structure?   

 Priorities and tradeoffs.  How are the evaluation criteria 
presented in this analysis to be prioritized in informing 
governance structure decision-making?  Are there tradeoffs of 
conflicts in priorities that must be addressed? 

 Implementers.  Who needs to be at the table to decide on 
management, programming and funding components?   

 
Like other strategic plans, advancing decision-making and 
establishment of waterfront management entities will require those 
who will be responsible for implementation to participate in its 
decision-making and planning process.  An advisory committee or 
task force can be convened to provide input on potential resources, 
constraints, and strategic opportunities that need to be considered 
in the establishment of a waterfront management structure.    Both 
this governance evaluation and the companion revenue generation 
analysis can inform the work of the advisory committee. 
 

A structured decision-making, planning and implementation 
process, driven by an advisory committee, might include the 
following outcomes: 
 
 Goal setting:  defining specific public benefit objectives to be 

met through waterfront governance structure, as well as goals 
pertaining to timeline and milestones in establishing new 
management entities. 

 Vehicles:  recommendation of the governance structure or 
structures, and desired components of those structures (such 
as governance board makeup) that will best deliver the desired 
public benefits. 

 Implementation Strategy:  development of a business plan for 
the new governance structure that specifies the steps, 
partnerships, resources, and legislative actions required for its 
establishment, defines roles and responsibilities of 
implementing entities, and revenue and expense estimates.   

 
This planning process should include a parallel process of public 
engagement, education and review that allows Alexandrians to 
participate and provide feedback in the planning process. Any 
advisory committee would need to work closely with the City’s 
Waterfront Commission. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

3 



Introduction 
Assignment Purpose 
The City of Alexandria commissioned BAE Urban Economics, Inc. 
(BAE) to prepare an analysis of governance models for the 
Alexandria waterfront  in order to inform decision-making on the 
implementation of the Waterfront Plan.  The vision for the 
Alexandria waterfront extends beyond the construction of new 
waterfront features and amenities.  The vibrant, world class 
waterfront expected by Alexandria residents will require a high level 
of maintenance, programming and synergy with the uses and 
activities that interface with it.  The objective of this analysis is to 
provide intelligence and a set of tools that can help chart a path 
forward by differentiating clear alternatives for funding, staffing and 
overseeing waterfront management.   
 
This examination recognizes the uniqueness of Alexandria as a 
place and the unique vision that has been created for the 
Alexandria waterfront.    There are valuable lessons, approaches 
and solutions found in governance examples from other parks, but 
there is no “off the shelf” structure or governance strategy that 
precisely fits Alexandria’s needs.  This analysis is not meant to 
provide a definitive recommendation on how to manage the 
waterfront.  Rather, the organization of the analysis and the 
integration of findings are meant to further discussion on key 
points: 
 
 How can the waterfront be best managed to achieve its 

transformative potential?   

 What is the best balance of public and private sector 
involvement in waterfront governance that ensures public 
benefit while providing the highest level of service?   

 
It is important to note that the most effective management 
structure for the Alexandria waterfront could potentially involve 
more than one governance model to respond to unique conditions 
in different segments of the waterfront, or to fulfill the range of 
roles and activities that will be key to the waterfront’s success.   
 
A revenue generation analysis provides a companion piece to the 
governance analysis that explores the financial dimensions of the 
activities to be undertaken by a waterfront governance entity.   
 
Report Organization 
This document is organized as follows: 
 
Description of Governance Models 
This section of the analysis defines and examines distinct 
governance models as concepts for managing key waterfront 
operations.  These operations will include: 
 
 Maintaining the hardscape and landscape features of the 

waterfront 
 Programming activities and events that enliven the 

waterfront 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

4 



 Maintaining safe, orderly operations that manage crowds 
and minimize impacts such as noise and traffic on 
surrounding neighborhoods 

 Promoting the waterfront and its benefits to residents and 
visitors 

 Managing waterfront operations in a financially prudent 
manner 

 
For each model, an organizational chart distills a simplified 
management structure and its relationship to a municipal entity 
like the City of Alexandria.  Key features of the model are explained, 
including typical funding sources, how it is established, and how it 
operates.  Precedent examples are identified.   
 
Profile Examples 
Profiles of selected examples of park and waterfront governance 
are researched and presented to demonstrate the traits of 
governance models in action. 
 
Model Evaluation  
This section integrates the descriptive information about the 
models to allow comparisons among them and to articulate key 
findings of the research as it relates to Alexandria.   
 
As part of the evaluation process, City of Alexandria staff helped 
define the criteria used to evaluate models: 
 
 Profile:  Degree to which entity can establish a national 

and/or regional identity in support of a world class 
waterfront. 

 Operational Independence:  Ability of entity to make 
decisions and operate independently of the City 
government.  

 Operational Efficiency:  Degree to which entity can operate 
efficiently and minimize City general fund support. 

 Access to Funding: Ability to access the broadest range of 
funding sources. 

 Stakeholder Involvement:  Degree to which stakeholders 
have direct involvement and/or control. 

 Enterprise Orientation:  Ability to provide commercial and 
enterprise activity to activate the waterfront with services 
and programming.  

 Risks and their mitigation:  Risks to the City of Alexandria 
and its taxpayers associated with the management 
structure; proven precedents that can inform structure’s 
operation; and methods of mitigating risk. 

 Startup considerations:  Ease with which entity can be 
established, given political, legislative and other 
considerations. 

 
The evaluation concludes with a summary of key findings and 
considerations, discussing tradeoffs among model choices, and the 
intersection of funding and governance issues.  Also considered are 
some of the specific geographic dimensions of waterfront 
management:  the governance of the Robinson Terminal piers, and 
the governance of core versus peripheral areas of the waterfront.   
 
 
 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

5 



Governance Models 
Overview of Governance Models 
The analysis defines and describes the following models: 
 
1. City management.  Encompasses the City’s current waterfront 

governance model, either through existing City departments or a 
new department, and its potential expansion as the waterfront 
expands. 

 
2. New governmental entity.  An entity, such as a park district, that 

is established by the City of Alexandria and overseen by an 
appointed board. 

 
3. Supporting organization.  An independently run, private sector 

entity, such as a conservancy, that engages with the City of 
Alexandria to support one or more key functions of waterfront 
management. 

 
4. Public improvement district or authority.  An Improvement 

District or Authority funded through a special assessment levied 
to properties within its defined service boundaries. 

 
5. Management of privately owned public space.  An alternative to 

City of Alexandria ownership of certain waterfront spaces, this 
approach involves enforcement of agreed-to public access terms 
on private land, including property owned by a land trust. 

 
The subsequent description of each model identifies defining 

features that differentiate it from other governance models.  
Variation exists within each governance model that accommodates 
a larger number of examples and structures. 
 
 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

6 



Model 1. City Management 
Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Revenue 
Generation 
 

 
 
Key Features and Functions 
In this model, waterfront operations, programming and revenue 
generation activities will continue to be carried out by the City of 
Alexandria, primarily through the Department of Recreation, Parks 
and Cultural Activities (RPCA).  The City has a Public Relations, 
Special Events, and Waterfront Operations Division within RPCA 
that manages the City Marina and has primary responsibility for 
operations, maintenance and administration/oversight of activities 
held along the Waterfront. This model would cover the expansion 
of this division as waterfront activities expand or would cover the 
creation of a new City department, depending on the operational 
and other considerations that would be most advantageous to the 
City of Alexandria.  

 
In this model the City retains maximum control and accountability 
for the waterfront.  Whether under RPCA or a separate 
department, key management functions needed and desired for 
the waterfront – landscaping, maintenance, security, programming 
and events, and enterprise and program revenue functions – 
would be carried out by the City management entity, supported by 
other City departments for ancillary functions – such as planning 
and land use control, policing and code enforcement, emergency 
services, and management of capital improvements.  
Departments within the City of Alexandria function cooperatively 
and collaboratively to fully cover the entire range of governmental 
functions along the waterfront and the rest of the City, often under 
the direction of formal agreements governing their cooperation.   
 
Precedents 
Examples of other cities that manage significant waterfront public 
space and marinas include: 
  
 The City of Annapolis, Maryland City Marina and Harbor 

Master (part of the Department of Recreation and Parks) 
 City of Santa Barbara, CA Department of Waterfront  

 
Funding Sources 
Under this model, City management would derive its funding 
almost exclusively from City-controlled funds.  Taxes and general 
fund dollars would likely be the sustaining source of revenue and 
waterfront funding would need to compete with other funding 
requests.  The waterfront management could be set up so that 
certain activities, such as the marina, are fully or partially funded 
with program revenue.  State and Federal funding sources are also 

City Council 

City Manager and 
City Departments 

City Staff, Contracted 
Services, 

Concessions, 
Licensees 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

7 



accessible for certain initiatives and activities. Philanthropic and 
sponsorship funding are more difficult to access under a city 
management model, although the City has had some success 
securing donations.  A partner organization (described 
subsequently) could be employed to access this source of funding.   
 
Operational Considerations 
The operational framework of a government entity would be 
familiar to and fully controlled by the City of Alexandria.  The City 
could employ options it already has to undertake expanded 
activities through: hiring new City workers, hiring temporary or 
contracted workers, and contracting out services.   
 
The needs of a “world class” waterfront are and will be unique 
from the operation of other public spaces in the City, given its level 
of management, expense, and potential level of benefit to the 
City’s residents and businesses.  Existing contracts and operations 
that the City employs to manage activity in parks and the public 
realm may not serve the needs of the waterfront.  Therefore, 
operation of the waterfront may require separate service 
contracts, pay structures and other mechanisms than those used 
within RCPA or across City departments.   
 

Enabling Legislation 
City operation of expanded waterfront activities will employ the 
organizational structure and legislative mechanisms currently 
used by the City.  

City of Alexandria Seal. Source: City of Alexandria. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

8 



Model 2. New Governmental Entity: 
Independent Park District or Authority 
 
Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Revenue 
Generation 

 
Key Features and Functions 
This model consolidates park operations, revenue generation and 
programming into one independent governmental entity.  These 
independent entities are typically governed by a board of directors 
that are appointed by the governmental entity that established it, 
although board makeup may vary based on the requirements 
found in the enabling legislation and the terms of the 
organization’s bylaws. The arrangement allows the establishing 
governmental body(ies) typically to have indirect oversight over the 
independent entity.  The structure and setup of independent 
governmental authorities are well suited for consolidated 
management across a multi-jurisdictional park district, and 
acquisition and preservation of land assets.   

 
Precedents 
 Fairfax County Park Authority 
 Montgomery County Urban Service Districts 
 Independent Alexandria authorities such as the Alexandria 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority (ARHA) and 
Alexandria Renew Enterprises (AlexRenew) 

 Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority 
 
Funding Sources 
Park Authorities primarily raise revenue through transfer of tax 
revenues (either general funds or special assessment from 
establishing governmental entity); through enterprise revenue 
generation; and through philanthropic contributions.   
 
Operational Considerations 
Staffing of a Park Authority would vary based on its 
responsibilities.  A Park Authority’s staff and contractors would 
perform many of the same activities that City of Alexandria staff 
perform, possibly resulting in some redundancy with non-
waterfront operations.  They can achieve an efficiency of scale in 
covering the full range of park functions. However, a new 
waterfront park entity would be highly focused on just the 
waterfront and not have potentially conflicting policies, directives, 
or pressures that come with a municipal model. 
 
Enabling Legislation 
Appropriate vehicles for an independent waterfront district, 
enabled by the Commonwealth of Virginia, include Parks 
Authorities (Sec. 15.2-5700) and Special Services Districts (Sec. 
15.2-2401). 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

9 



Model 3. Supporting Organizations:  
Conservancies and Friends Organizations 
 
Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and 
Maintenance  

 
 

Key Features and Functions 
Supporting entities are typically initiated and run independently of 
the municipal government.  Started by stakeholders with an 
interest in establishing or improving public spaces, they gain their 
influence on parks by bringing resources to the table and through 
political advocacy.  This category of entities is flexible in the level 
of services and funding it can provide for the public space that it 
covers.  Supporting entities work in partnership with governmental 
entities in running parks in a wide variety of ways, from providing 
limited services and support to taking on the bulk of park 
operations, funding, and planning.  They often operate under a 
management agreement with the governing entity.  They do not 
set regulations on park use, nor do they own parkland or park 
assets. 
 
Precedents 
 New York City parks partnerships: Prospect Park 

Conservancy, Friends of the High Line, Central Park 
Conservancy, Brooklyn Bridge Park Conservancy National 
Park Service park partnerships, such as Glen Echo 
Partnership for Arts and Culture, Glen Echo Park, MD 

 Alexandria Library Foundation, Friends of the Alexandria 
Library, Friends of Fort Ward, Alexandria 

 
This model also encompasses small scale park partners that rely 
on volunteers, a small amount of funding from membership, and 
have a much smaller scope of activities.   
 
Funding Sources 
Supporting organizations raise their own funds to support the 
operations that they manage.  Revenues come from donations, 

Specified functions, 
typically governed by a 

partnership or 
management 

agreement 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

10 



sponsorships or enterprise activities.  Supporting organizations 
may also contract with governmental entities to provide services 
for a fee. 
 
Staffing and Operational Considerations 
Supporting organizations range from small, volunteer-run 
organizations to organizations with hundreds of staff and 
operations budgets in the tens of millions. The roles of the 
supporting organization in relation to the governmental entity are 
typically defined through a partnership agreement.  A key 
characteristic of staffing and operations through partnership 
organizations is that they are generally more nimble, flexible and 
enterprise-oriented than governmental entities. Their budgeting 
process occurs outside of the governmental entity’s public budget 
process, and contracting and concessions do not require 
adherence to public procurement rules.  They are not completely 
devoid of oversight, however, as their non-profit status and 
relationship to funders leads them to make their financial 
statements and annual reports available for public review.   
 
Staffing levels and operational budgets vary by the scope of the 
organization’s efforts.  Appendix A summarizes staffing and 
budgets for a variety of example organizations 
 
Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations 
Friends organizations are private organizations set up 
independently from the City government to support a certain cause 
and therefore do not require enabling legislation to implement.  
The local government’s contracting authority would apply to any 
contracts between the local government and the friends 
organization.  

  

Friends of the High Line Logo. Source: Wired New York. 

Glen Echo Park Partnership for Arts and Culture Logo. Source: Glen Echo 

Park. 

Brooklyn Bridge Park Conservancy Logo. Source: Brooklyn Bridge Park. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

11 



Model 4. Public Improvement District or 
Authority 
 
Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and 
Maintenance 

Key Features and Functions 
Compared to supporting entities, a public improvement district or 
authority has a more integrated relationship between the 
government entity and the private sector stakeholders through 
their funding and governance structure.  A defining feature of this 
governance model, which covers Business Improvement Districts 
(BIDs) and Community Development Authorities (CDAs), is its 
funding through a special assessment levied to properties within 
its boundaries.   

These districts are established by ordinance of the governing body, 
with a defined boundary, a stated purpose, and a plan for funding 
anticipating costs of the services provided.  They carry out 
activities in accordance with their stated purpose, such as 
recreational and cultural activities, “clean and safe” services, 
beautification projects, and retail promotion and economic 
development.  They can fund, construct, operate and maintain 
public facilities; they can hire staff and enter contracts with other 
entities.   
 
Enabling legislation in the early 1990’s allowed for the creation of 
CDAs in Virginia.  They are separate governmental authorities that 
fund infrastructure and community facility improvements.  CDAs 
established in Virginia have similar capabilities as BIDs in terms of 
district operations and maintenance, but in practice are used as 
vehicles for financing of capital improvements.   
 
The composition and selection of the entity’s board will depend on 
its articles of incorporation and bylaws, as well as any 
requirements of the state enabling legislation or local ordinance.  
Boards typically have representation by local property owners, as 
well as the sponsoring governmental entity. 
 
Examples 
 Arlington County BIDs in Rosslyn, Crystal City and Ballston 
 Capitol Riverfront BID 
 Delaware River Waterfront Corporation, Philadelphia 
 Mosaic-Merrifield CDA in Fairfax County 
 Bryant Park Corporation 

  

District Board 

District 
Management 

Staff, contracted services, 
concessions, licensees 

Waterfront 
Property 

Owners/Other 
Stakeholders 

City Council 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

12 



Funding Sources 
Public Improvement Districts and Authorities receive all or a 
portion of their funding from tax revenues.  BIDs receive 
supplemental ad valorem tax revenues through a special 
assessment to fund capital improvements and/or ongoing 
operations of the entity.  A BID can also engage in entrepreneurial 
activities to generate revenue, and receive government funding in 
addition to its special assessment revenues, and can seek 
sponsorships or other fundraising activities.  CDAs are typically 
funded from the proceeds of tax increment revenue bonds, and 
can also seek special assessments of property taxes and fees from 
services provided.  CDA enabling legislation does not explicitly 
authorize a CDA to obtain funding through philanthropic or 
enterprise activities. 
 
Staffing and Operational Considerations 
Staffing and operations of public-private entity will be similar to a 
large supporting organization that handles multiple functions of 
public realm operations, management and programming.    
 
Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations 
In Virginia, BIDs are enabled as special services districts under 
Code of VA Section 15.2-2400 et seq.  Service districts are 
established by a local governmental entity.  Their special services 
can be performed by the governing entity, or assigned to a 
separate entity such as a non-profit.  The functions and 
supplemental tax revenue support of a BID in Virginia would 
therefore be established by local ordinance; a separate non-profit 
entity could be created and enter into a management agreement 
with the local entity.   
 

A Community Development Authority is enabled by the Code of VA 
15.2-5152 et seq. as a legally separate entity from the local 
government, that can perform some local government functions 
related to infrastructure improvements, parks and community 
facilities.    
 

  

Capitol Riverfront BID Logo. Source: Capitol Riverfront BID. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

13 



Model 5. Privately Owned Public Space 
 
Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and 
Maintenance  

 
Key Features and Functions 
Privately owned public spaces operate as public spaces but are 
privately owned.  Ownership can be in the hands of a private 
property owner also owning adjacent, developed property for which 

the open space serves as an amenity.  Private lands could also be 
held by a land trust, a non-profit entity with the purpose of 
acquiring and maintaining lands in perpetuity for public use.  Land 
trusts are privately controlled entities, but can have public sector 
interests represented on their governing board. 
 
Maintaining land in private ownership is an option to operate and 
maintain land for public use for which a governing entity cannot or 
does not want to accept fee title ownership, or where a private 
property owner does not want to transfer fee title ownership.  
Successful privately owned public spaces are ones perceived as 
public spaces and that cannot be easily differentiated from 
publicly owned spaces by their users.  Public control over the terms 
of public use are governed by the agreements set in place at the 
establishment of the public space, and are conditioned by the level 
of control or involvement that the governing entity has in the 
establishment of the space.  Conditions such as hours of 
operation, acceptable activities, restriction of public access, and 
maintenance standards are controlled through tools such as 
easements, joint use leases, and management agreements 
between the land owner and the governing entity.  
   
Precedents 

• Northern Virginia Conservation Trust 
• Land Trust of Virginia 
• Tidelock Park and portions of Rivergate Park 
• Privately owned public spaces (POPS), New York City 
• The Henry, Alexandria 
• John Carlyle Square, Alexandria 
• Canal Center, Alexandria 

 

Negotiated agreement on park 
access, regulation, activities 

and maintenance 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

14 



Public space along the Alexandria waterfront already includes a 
mix of public and private ownership and maintenance, including 
the examples above. These spaces all operate with public access 
easements, but their relationship to the City in terms of 
maintenance, and their “feel” as public or private space, varies.   
 
Funding Sources 
In this model, the land owner customarily operates and maintains 
its land at its own expense.  Depending on the circumstances by 
which the land is in private hands, there could be a diversity of 
operations and maintenance revenue sources.  Non-profit 
ownership entities can access philanthropic and government 
funding sources.  A property owner could potentially negotiate 
provision of programming, maintenance and security by a BID, a 
conservancy or other parks partner, or by a governmental entity.   
 
Staffing and Operational Considerations 
With private sector responsibility for operations and maintenance, 
governmental management will be focused on enforcing public 
benefit provisions established by the government entity, such as 
standards of maintenance and hours of operation.  Operational 
challenges include coordination of the activities and management 
of privately owned public spaces within a collection of publicly 
owned spaces (such as the set of public spaces along the 
Alexandria Waterfront).  Ensuring the long term financial 
stewardship of privately owned spaces requires mechanisms for 
ensuring that capital improvements are funded through reserves 
or other means.   
 

Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations 
Government has limited control over private land.  It has the 
opportunity to exert its desired terms for use of private land as a 
condition of approvals or entitlements that the private owner is 
seeking from the government entity, such as site plan approval, 
and as part of its land use ordinances and regulations.  A private, 
public benefit interest such as a land trust can purchase and 
operate publicly accessible land without government oversight.  
However, such a non-profit entity is likely to be championed, 
supported, or established in part by a governmental entity, and 
would typically work collaboratively, but voluntarily, with a 
governmental entity to meet its public benefit goals.   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 Beekman Plaza, POPS. Source: Advocates for Privately Owned Public Space (APOPS).

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

15 



Model Profiles 
The following examples highlight well known examples of the 
identified governance models.  
 
Fairfax County Park Authority 
(Model 2. New Governmental Entity) 
 
What it is:  Fairfax County Park Authority (the Authority) is a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth adopted by county ordinance in 
1950.  The Authority manages the acquisition, preservation, 
development, operation and maintenance of its assets and 
activities.  The Authority provides recreational and fitness 
opportunities, and has protected environmental and cultural 
resources as the county grows. 
 
Governance Structure Relationship to County:  The County Board of 
Supervisors appoints a 12-member board.  Board members 
represent nine districts and three at large seats.  Authority operates 
under an MOU with the county Board of Supervisors.  Fiduciary 
responsibility is shared with county:  the Authority draws funding 
from five dedicated park funds, with three  controlled by county 
(county general fund, county construction fund, park construction 
bond fund) and two controlled by the Authority (revenue fund and 
capital improvement fund). 
  
Land ownership:  The 23,265 acres of land owned by the Authority 
represents 9.2% of county land and has increased by over 75 acres 
in past 10 years.   

Revenue and expenses: The Authority operates on a nearly $90 
million budget.  Program revenues and inter-governmental 
transfers make up most of revenue sources.  Recreation centers 
and golf courses cover their own expenses.  

 

The Fairfax Park Foundation, established in 2001, supports the 
Authority with a focus on philanthropic gifts and volunteer support 
for park activities.  Donations and grants totaled $13.5 million or 
13 percent of revenues in FY 2013. 
 
Staffing and level of operations:  The Authority employs about 500 
operations staff and 94 administrative staff.  They run 421 
separate facilities including 272 fields, 9 aquatic centers, 7 fitness 
centers, 2 indoor gyms, 1 indoor ice rink, 3 marinas, 6 mini golf 
courses, 205 playgrounds, and 252 tennis and racquetball courts.   

$Millions
% of 

Revenue
Program Revenues $43.5 42%
Program Grants $13.5 13%
Intergovernmental Transfers $39.5 38%
Other Revenues $6.7 6%
Total Revenues $103.2

Expenses $89.8

Park Operations at a Glance:  FY 2013 
Source:  Fairfax County Park Authority Comprehensive Annual 

Fiscal Report 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

16 



Fort Mason Center 
(Model 3. Supporting Organization) 
 
What it is:  Fort Mason is a portion of the Golden Gate National 
Recreation Area (GGNRA) located adjacent to the Marina 
neighborhood of San Francisco, and contains a collection of historic 
pier structures with views of San Francisco Bay and Alcatraz Island.  
A California public benefit organization, the Fort Mason Foundation, 
was created in the 1970s by leaders of the San Francisco arts and 
historic preservation communities to advance reuse of then-vacant 
structures for community arts organizations.  GGNRA initially had a 
cooperative agreement with Fort Mason Foundation, which was 
replaced by a long term lease for the purposes of obtaining bank 
loans for major rehabilitation.  Today, inside the renovated 
buildings of the former military site, Fort Mason houses many 
nonprofits and small businesses including Museums, Catering 
Services, Restaurants, Book Stores, and Theater Troupes. The 
complex of buildings also serves as an event center for over 1,000 
unique and diverse events-- attracting 1.6 million people each year.   
  
Governance Structure Relationship to Governing Body:  The Fort 
Mason Center has a 27 member board of trustees with the General 
Superintendent of the GGNRA serving as an Ex officio member.  
 
Land ownership:  Fort Mason has 28 rental venues that hold 
anywhere from 5 to 20,000 people and totaling over 144,000 
square feet. The Fort is within the GGNRA, which encompasses 
75,000 acres of land and water from San Mateo County to Tomales 
Bay along the California coastline, including the Golden Gate 
Bridge.   
 

Revenue and Expenses:  In 2013, the Fort Mason Center received 
$8.5 million in revenue, with $6.67 million resulting from program 
service revenues. The organization received $1.8 million in 
contributions and grants. Fort Mason Center spent $1.58 million on 
building maintenance and related expenses, and roughly $2 million 
on salaries and employee compensation in 2013. A new urban 
design plan in 2012 will create additional costs as buildings are 
rehabilitated and the plan is carried out.  
 
Staffing and level of operations:  Fort Mason Center employed 64 
people during 2013.  A permanent staff of 28 oversees day to day 
operations with most staff responsible for overseeing event space 
and event management.  In 2013, an estimated 20 volunteers 
assisted the organization directly, not including the volunteers 
associated with the individual events. 
 

 
Fort Mason Center. Source: salvationarmysantarosa.org 

  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

17 



Delaware River Waterfront Corporation 
(Models 2 and 3 Hybrid. New Governmental Entity and Supporting 
Organization) 
 
What it is:  Delaware River Waterfront Corporation (DRWC) is a 
501c3 non-profit organization set up for the exclusive benefit of the 
City of Philadelphia and its citizens.  Its mandate is to design, 
develop and manage the Central Delaware River waterfront 
(bounded by Allegheny Avenue to the north and Oregon Avenue to 
the south); to create a vibrant destination for recreation, cultural 
and commercial activities; and to catalyze private development 
through its placemaking and public space development activities.   
 
Governance Structure Relationship to Governing Body:  DRWC 
operates in a space between a city-controlled and a privately 
controlled entity.  The Board is composed of six “Class A” seats 
designated for the Mayor and other members of city government.  
An additional 10 “Class B” seats are filled for staggering, 3 year 
terms through a nominations process run by the executive 
committee of the board.  The current Mayoral administration, which 
has identified the waterfront as one of its priorities, pushed for 
modifications to the board election structure. The board changed 
from one that was solely appointed by the city government to one in 
which existing board members identified and recruited highly 
qualified new board members with expertise in real estate, 
planning, finance and fundraising.  These changes have made the 
board much more effective and allow the organization to avoid the 
conflicts that might be associated with a board structure that is 
solely composed of political appointees, and positions it to be more 
resilient to changes associated with a new political administration. 
DWRC is not officially an instrument of the City, but has positioned 

itself as an organization that has a reputation for public benefit and 
is trusted by the public as an institution that serves the public good.    
This reputation allows it to gain support for its allocation of City 
funds and to work closely with the Mayor.  It voluntarily complies 
with the Sunshine Act to further support its public benefit 
reputation. 
 
Land ownership:  DRWC holds long term (99 year plus 99 year 
extension period) leases with the City of Philadelphia piers not held 
for commercial maritime use, and available for development and 
public use.  The Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority has 
designated DRWC as the designated developer for these properties.  
As a 501c3 DRWC also can own, and owns, fee simple title to 
properties it acquires to advance its mission. DRWC holds a ground 
lease of about 120 acres of land for public use.   
 
  

Delaware River Waterfront. Source: Delaware River Waterfront Corporation. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

18 



Revenue and Expenses:  DRWC has an annual operations budget of 
about $9 million.  Of that budget, about $100,000 per acre is spent 
on maintaining, operating, planning, and programming the active 
public space (and about $35,000 per acre for passive public space).  
Part of that budget is paid for through the real estate assets it 
leases, particularly its surface parking lots and rents from building 
tenants.  It earns additional revenue from concessions and 
enterprise activities.  For example, DRWC owns two liquor licenses 
and therefore can establish food and beverage facilities without 
sharing profits with a separate caterer or restaurant operator.  
DWRC also relies upon philanthropic funds and government 
appropriations as revenue sources.  A major philanthropic funder is 
the William Penn Foundation.  
 
Staffing and level of operations:  DRWC has about 65 full time 
employees, which swells to 120-130 employees during the 
summer. They cover the organization’s management, planning and 
administrative functions; operation of open space; marina 
operation; event and performance staff; and real estate 
management.   

  
Great Plaza at Penn’s Landing. Source: Delaware River Waterfront Corporation. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

19 



Capitol Riverfront BID  
(Model 4. Public Improvement District or Authority) 
 
What it is:  The Capitol Riverfront Business Improvement District 
(BID) maintains over 500 acres of public realm along the Anacostia 
River waterfront, and operates and programs the Yards Park.  In 
addition to these core responsibilities, the BID also serves the 
waterfront’s growth and development through economic 
development and business attraction activities, including:  
marketing, branding, and public relations initiatives, strategic 
planning and advocacy for the area, and community building 
activities for its service area.  The BID area is about a third of the 
way through its planned redevelopment into a dense, mixed use 
community that will include about 15 million square feet of office 
space, one million square feet of retail, nearly 12,000 new 
residential units, and nearly 1,300 hotel rooms.   The area covered 
by the BID includes 10 acres of parks (including the Yards Park, 
Canal Park and Diamond Teague plaza), and the Nationals Baseball 
Stadium.  Public space programming and activities include the ice 
rink and restaurant in Canal Park, water features and events 
programmed at the Yards Park, kayak rentals in Diamond Teague 
Park, and the Trapeze School operated on private, undeveloped 
property.  The district attracted nearly three million visitors in 2013.   
 
Governance Structure:   The BID has a 21-member board comprised 
of area owners and developers, and six non-voting board members 
comprised of community stakeholders.  The District of Columbia 
initially authorized the BID in 2007 and will be up for 
reauthorization again in 2016.  The BID has an agreement with the 
District of Columbia for operation of the city-owned Yards Park, 
which opened in 2010.   

 
Land ownership:  The BID owns no property within the district.  In 
addition to the city-owned Yards Park, other significant public space 
in the BID district includes Canal Park, owned and operated by the 
non-profit Canal Park Inc., which is sponsored by adjacent 
commercial property owners; and Diamond Teague Plaza, which is 
owned by the District of Columbia and managed by the District of 
Columbia in partnership with Earth Conservation Corps, a 
conservancy program that focuses on environmental education and 
workforce development among DC youth.  The BID coordinates with 
other land owners and manages some events in public spaces 
outside of Yards Park.  Due to its proven success at public realm 
management and operations, the BID is contemplating agreements 
to take on additional management services for Diamond Teague 
Plaza and Canal Park. 
 

Revenue and expenses: The BID operates on an approximately $2.9 
million budget, including operations of its public realm activities, 
management and planning, and administrative functions.  The 

The Yards. Source: cfo.dc.gov 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

20 



Yards Park has an annual operating budget of approximately $1 
million, and the expense of public realm clean and safe operations 
is $700,000 annually.  The BID is funded through over $1.7 million 
in property tax assessments.  The operation of the BID is also 
supported through several other revenue sources, including:  
 
 A limited duration agreement with one property owner 

around the Yards Park (Forest City) for a special 
assessment on substantially occupied buildings; 

 An agreement with the District of Columbia to divert new 
retail sales tax revenue in a designated area around Yards 
Park; 

 Excess revenues from the performance of bonds used to  
finance certain new office development in the district; 

 An appropriation from the District of Columbia general fund; 
 Revenue from commercial events, parking, sponsorships 

and some food concessions.    
 

The activities that define and support the character of the Yards 
Park are primarily self-supporting.  Examples are the sponsorship 
fees that cover the summer concert series and the free yoga 
classes sponsored by a local gym.  Park operation and 
programming seeks to be entrepreneurial and generates revenue 
through a limited number of commercial events that restrict access 
to portions of the park, through agreements with local property 
owners that manage surface parking lots for special events. 
However, current level of park operations and programming 
requires funding from a number of sources in addition to the BID 
assessment, including direct subsidy from the city. 
 

Staffing and level of operations:  The BID operates with eight full 
time staff members and a staff of 12 clean team/BID hospitality 
ambassadors contracted through another DC BID.   
 
 
  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

21 



The Mosaic District CDA/Merrifield CRA, 
Fairfax County  
(Model 4. Public Improvement District or Authority) 
 
What it is: Merrifield sits at the intersection of I-495 and I-66 in 
Fairfax County.  In 1998, the county designated Merrifield a 
Community Revitalization Area (CRA) to address a lack of new 
development and investment at this key location in the county.  
Merrifield's CRA designation allowed for the subsequent creation of 
the county’s first Tax Increment Finance District and Community 
Development Authority (CDA) at the Mosaic District site. A CDA is a 
flexible funding tool that can address a broad range of 
infrastructure needs and services. 
 
Governance Structure: To establish the CDA, a petition to the Board 
of Supervisors at Fairfax County had to come from a majority (51 
percent) of landowners within the proposed area, based on either 
land area or assessed value. The Mosaic District CDA is managed 
by a single property owner (like a mall property), and offers 
programming and events that extend the urban feel of the 
development beyond its physical form.   
 
Land ownership:  The County selected Edens as the designated 
developer for the Merrifield CRA site, and Edens acquired property 
from 12 owners by 2005. The CDA, established by the County Board 
of Supervisors in 2010, covers the 31 acre Edens property at the 
heart of Merrifield, now called the Mosaic District. 
 
Revenue and expenses: Since Merrifield is a CRA, redevelopment 
funding allows for the construction of a street grid, parks, and other 
improvements in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan and the 

Merrifield Urban Design Guidelines. Money flowing to the CDA is 
funded by ad valorem special taxes or special assessments, as 
negotiated between Edens and the County. 
 
Staffing and level of operations:  The Greater Merrifield Business 
Association supports business organization within the larger 
Merrifield area, however, all other staffing requirements come from 
Edens (the CDA petitioner) and the County (CDA/CRA enabler). 
  

Mosaic District feat. yoga in park. Source: paulwhartonstyle.com 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

22 



New York City Privately Owned Public Spaces 
(POPS)1  
(Model 5. Privately Owned Public Spaces) 
 
What it is: The City of New York has a large collection of privately 
owned public spaces created as a result of incentive provisions in 
its zoning code.  Starting in 1961, the zoning code allowed for 
building developers to obtain a floor area increase to commercial 
and residential properties in exchange for providing a public space, 
plaza or arcade. Since 1961, about 525 spaces, or 80 acres of 
public space, have been created (the zoning provisions also gave 
zoning applicants the right to build an additional 16 million square 
feet of private building space in total).  Spaces vary in 
attractiveness and utility of public spaces. 
 
Governance Structure: All spaces are maintained in private 
ownership. However, all spaces must be open 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week. 
 
Land ownership:  All land is privately owned and managed. 
Properties include residential and commercial properties that 
include hotels, office and mixed use buildings.  Most POPS are 
found in Midtown Manhattan; spaces were also built in large 
projects in Brooklyn and Queens, but no spaces are found in the 
Bronx or Staten Island.   
 
Revenue and expenses: No revenue flows from the spaces, 
although the developers receive the benefit of extra floor area. The 
City of New York incurs expense to review developer’s applications, 

1 Sources: New York City Department of City Planning; Municipal Art Society. 

and to enforce the use of the space as public, rather than be 
absorbed back into the private realm.  
 
Staffing and level of operations:  The City of New York Department 
of City Planning approve POPS, but the Department of Buildings is 
responsible for enforcement. There are several supporting groups, 
such as the New York Municipal Art Society and Advocates for 
Privately Owned Public Space, that support the City by conducting 
reports on the use and status of POPS in New York City. For 
example, New York’s Municipal Art Society, in collaboration with the 
New York City Department of City Planning and advocate Jerold S. 
Kayden, undertook an evaluation of all POPS created by the zoning 
code and issued their findings in a report in 2000.  The study found 
that the performance of POPS varied greatly, and that many 
building owners had illegally privatized their spaces.  Fewer, but 
higher quality, spaces continue to be created.  A 2007 update of 
zoning code allows only public plazas and tightened the standards 
for POPS construction to ensure that exciting, safe, and truly 
accessible spaces are developed and maintained.

POPS at 590 Madison Avenue, Manhattan. Source:  Advocates for Privately 
Owned Public Space (APOPS) 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

23 

                                                      



Model Evaluation and Key Considerations 
Evaluation Matrix 
The matrix below provides a summary evaluation and comparison 
of the models described previously.  The evaluation incorporates 
further refinements to the models.  Because the supporting 
organization model incorporates organizations on a wide spectrum 
of capacities and staffing levels, the evaluation distinguishes 
between small scale supporting entities (labeled as “Friends Of” 
organizations) and large scale supporting entities (labeled as 
Conservancy organizations).  The Improvement District model 
excludes Community Development Authorities, which are designed 
as vehicles for public-private funding of capital improvements more 
than vehicles for ongoing operations and maintenance.  
 

• Profile captures the degree to which an entity establishes a 
national and/or regional identity in support of a world class 
waterfront.  Conservancy organizations typically have the 
highest profile corresponding to the attraction of significant 
donors. 
 

• Operational Independence reflects the ability of the entity to 
make decisions and operate independently of the City 
government.  In the matrix, operational independence 
increases among organizations from right to left.  For 
managing entities outside the City government, the balance 
between operational independence and public 
accountability is established with the setup of board seats, 
funding streams, and accountability measures set up as 

part of a management agreement with the City and the 
organization’s bylaws. 

 
• Operational Efficiency reflects the degree to which the entity 

can operate efficiently and minimize redundancy, using 
public funds as efficiently as possible.  Well run supporting 
organizations and public-private improvement districts can 
offer professional, responsive staffing and management 
outside of a municipal staffing structure.  A focus on 
responding to the unique needs and activities of the 
waterfront will allow a supporting organization or public-
private entity to avoid redundancy with services the 
municipal government typically provides. 

 
• Access to Funding refers to the entity’s ability to access the 

broadest range of funding sources.  An improvement district 
offers the potential to tap into a dedicated public revenue 
stream from a special assessment, as well as the largest 
range of enterprise and philanthropic funds.   

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

24 



 
• Stakeholder Involvement reflects the degree to which 

stakeholders have direct involvement and/or control.  
Stakeholder engagement and control generally corresponds 
to an organization’s operational independence.  Using a 
supporting organization or improvement district model, a 
well-planned governance structure can reap the benefits of 
broad involvement, while making sure to have controls and 
public accountability in its structure. 

 
• Enterprise Orientation captures an entity’s ability to provide 

commercial and enterprise activity to activate the 
waterfront with services and programming. All models 
examined have the potential to engage in enterprise 
activities.  The precedent of successful supporting 
organizations and improvement districts makes them the 
most enterprise-oriented.   

 
• Risks and their mitigation covers the risks to the City of 

Alexandria and its taxpayers associated with the 
management structure, as well as proven precedents that 
can inform structure’s operation and other methods of 
mitigating risk.  All governance structures carry risks.  In 
general, risks to the government relate to the government’s 
possible failure to reach its objectives in a governance 
structure that it controls, or its failure to control the 
outcome of a structure that involves more private sector 
stewardship. 

 
• Startup considerations reflect the ease with which an entity 

can be established, given political, legislative, and other 
considerations.  A departure from current operations, and 
the scale of the effort that is expected for operation of the 
waterfront, will require more effort to start up.   Another 
important factor is the level of engagement needed by 
stakeholders at startup.  An entity that is predominantly 
managed by private sector stakeholders will to a large 
extent need its establishment to be championed and driven 
by those stakeholders. 

 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

25 



 
   Supporting Organizations   

 Criteria 
City Management  
Model #1 

New Governmental 
Entity 
Model #2 

“Friends of”  
Model #3A 

Conservancy 
Model #3B 

Public Improvement     
District or Authority 
Model #4 

Privately Owned 
Public Spaces 
Model #5 

Profile Low Low Low-Medium High Medium Low 

Operational  
independence 

Part of 
government 
structure 
controlled by City 
Council 

No direct control by 
City, but Council-
appointed board 

Independent 
oversight/board, but 
operations role 
negotiated with City 

Independent 
oversight/board, but 
operations role negotiated 
with City 

Independent board 
typically elected from 
property owners, 
with City role in 
startup, funding and 
reauthorization 

Independent 
oversight and 
operations 
regulated by City 
through land use 
control 

Operational 
efficiency 

City government 
structure, no 
redundancy 
serving with 
waterfront and 
other City areas.   

Governmental 
structure, well suited 
to large geographic 
areas and land 
acquisition 
programs; possible 
redundancy with City 
functions 

Small scale operations 
suited to managing 
volunteers, fundraising, 
and directing limited 
scope activities 

Non-profit entity with 
potential for efficient, 
responsive and 
coordinated management 
across a large park or park 
district 

Non-profit entity 
with potential for 
efficient, responsive 
and coordinated 
management across 
a large park or park 
district 

Private sector 
operations; 
coordination 
challenges with 
nearby parks 

Access to 
funding 

General fund 
revenue , 
enterprise funds, 
grants and 
philanthropy 

Tax revenues, 
enterprise funds, 
grants and 
philanthropy 

Philanthropy/ 
sponsorships, sweat 
equity, enterprise funds 

Philanthropy/sponsorships 
enterprise activity, grants 

Tax revenues, 
enterprise funds, 
grants, philanthropy/ 
sponsorships 

Program revenue 
and private funding; 
access to grants and 
philanthropy if a 
non-profit org. 

Stakeholder 
involvement 

Low: no defined 
stakeholder role Low-medium 

High:  stakeholders 
needed to champion 
and establish entity's 
role 

High:  stakeholders needed 
to champion and establish 
entity's role 

High:  stakeholder 
oversight on board 

Medium:  engages 
property owner but 
typically not other 
stakeholders  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

26 



   Supporting Organizations   

 Criteria 
City Management  
Model #1 

New Governmental 
Entity 
Model #2 

“Friends of”  
Model #3A 

Conservancy 
Model #3B 

Public Improvement     
District or Authority 
Model #4 

Privately Owned 
Public Spaces 
Model #5 

Enterprise 
orientation 

Potential to 
operate enterprise 
activities within 
governmental 
structure 

Potential to operate 
enterprise activities 
within governmental 
structure 

Ability to take on 
enterprise activities on 
a small scale 

High: required to seek its 
own funding 

High:  charged with 
managing  in more 
entrepreneurial 
manner than 
municipal 
government 

Ability to operate 
public space as part 
of a private sector 
business 

Risk 

Familiar 
governmental 
structure but 
could fail in 
generating 
sufficient revenue 
or managing to 
higher standard 

Risk involved in 
starting new 
enterprise, failure to 
meet management 
objectives 

Minimal risks due to 
size of operation; risk 
that organization will 
selectively advocate for 
interests of small 
segment of residents or 
stakeholders 

Risk of failure to meet its 
objectives after 
establishment; minimized 
by proven model but 
potentially limited 
government recourse or 
control in event of failure 

Risk minimized by 
proven model; 
potential political risk 
in government 
involvement in 
startup 

Risk of public sector 
failure to enforce 

Startup 
considerations 

Scales up from 
current 
operations; 
requires budget 
appropriation 

Feasibility study 
needed and City 
Council approval of 
new entity 

Minimal startup lead 
time 

Startup initiated by 
stakeholder interests; 
effectiveness determined 
by ability to raise funds 

Startup driven by 
stakeholder 
interests; requires 
Council action to 
initiate special 
services district and 
supplemental tax 

City's ability to set 
terms of public use 
generally vested 
only at startup 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

27 



Key Considerations 
Public vs. Public/Private Management  
In crafting a governance structure for the Alexandria waterfront, a 
key objective is to find the “sweet spot” that balances the authority 
and accountability of public sector governance with the flexibility, 
efficiency and more entrepreneurial orientation of governance 
models that are managed by private sector entities.  The following 
summarizes key considerations related to that balance. 
 
 Improvement districts and trusts/conservancies are 

governance structures that most fully incorporate both 
public and private sector elements.  They can offer benefits 
of both efficiency and accountability, which accounts for 
why they are so prevalent in large, successful, high profile 
parks.  However, they will require private sector 
stakeholders to drive, at least in part, the establishment of 
the governance entity.   

 A typical park authority operates at a scale that is 
inappropriate (and costly) for the amount of land that needs 
to be managed along the waterfront.  However, the park 
authority model, or a special services district that is 
managed by the City, offers an alternate, City-driven 
structure in the absence of strong private sector leadership, 
or the presence of strong citizen opposition to private sector 
management.   

 There were no strong precedents found for high capacity 
models solely within a city management structure.  
However, a supporting organization that has a narrower 
focus – such as marketing or events programming – might 
pair with a dedicated City department (or department sub-
division) to provide a governance structure that can 

approach the effectiveness of a more comprehensive 
supporting organization or improvement district.   

 Governance of privately owned public space will have 
limited relevance to the core areas of the waterfront, given 
that key waterfront properties are all publicly owned.  The 
implications of a privately owned public space management 
program are described further below with respect to the 
Robinson Terminal piers.   
 

Activities  
Appendix C describes the current breakdown of responsibility for 
waterfront activity among City departments.  Given precedents and 
examples, public/private management is most common and 
appropriate for specific activities that are unique to high profile 
parks and waterfront public realm.  Key subject areas for 
public/private management include fundraising and financial 
management, waterfront-specific maintenance and operations, 
marketing, and programming.  Other management areas, such as 
planning, basic operations and maintenance, transportation 
management, and emergency services, may be more appropriate 
within City government, with capacity for coordination on these 
topics available within the new management entity.  Organizations 
such as the Delaware River Waterfront Corporation and the Capitol 
Riverfront BID play a leading role in their area’s economic 
development activities, but their role in this realm corresponds to 
the large amount of developable land within their service areas.   
 
Ownership and Governance and the Robinson Terminal Piers 
The future ownership and management of the Robinson Terminal 
North and South piers (as well as adjoining waterfront property that 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

28 



will be part of the public realm) is a critical issue that needs to be 
addressed immediately in connection with the pending site plan 
applications for their redevelopment.  The evaluation below is 
intended to provide guidance in determining the path forward for 
addressing ownership and governance issues. 
 
Ownership.   In considering the planned redevelopment of the piers 
and adjacent waterfront public realm, the City and the 
owner/applicant are considering whether property should remain in 
private ownership or be transferred to City ownership.  The 
experience on Alexandria’s waterfront and in other locations 
suggests that privately-owned public spaces (POPS) can be 
seamlessly integrated into a high quality public realm.  However, all 
privately-owned parcels are found outside Alexandria’s core 
waterfront area, and the level of activity on privately-owned spaces 
is planned to remain relatively low.  The piers, given their 
opportunity to attract users and the level of investment associated 
with their renovation, are likely to comprise the northern and 
southern limits of the waterfront’s core area and will need to be 
more actively managed.   
 
A transfer of the pier improvements to City of Alexandria ownership 
may be preferable in that it offers more direct control over their 
operation, but it also is potentially accompanied by liabilities that 
the City does not want or need to shoulder.  Since the City of 
Alexandria has limited control over land it does not own, 
establishing the conditions for access, appearance and 
management of POPS, and mechanisms for enforcing those 
conditions, is a critical component of overall negotiations with the 
property owner/applicant regarding Development Special Use 
Permit (DSUP) approval conditions.   

Governance.  A related but separate issue relates to the 
mechanisms for operations and maintenance of the Robinson 
Terminal piers.  Given their size, their prominent location, and the 
level of investment placed in their rehabilitation, management of 
the piers should be coordinated with the core area of the Alexandria 
Waterfront, even if the piers remain in private ownership.  The 
elements of coordinated operations and management would 
include: 
 
 Landscaping and maintenance standards that match the 

rest of the core areas 
 Uniform signage 
 Coordinated programming, i.e. a master programming and 

activity schedule that enhances and does not conflict with 
activity elsewhere on the waterfront 

 Consolidated branding and marketing  
 Coordinated or consolidated financial management that 

reflects a unified operation and governance of the 
waterfront. 

 
Ownership and Stewardship Guidelines. The following items 
comprise a framework for City decision-making on whether to seek 
City ownership of Robinson Terminals waterfront property and if 
not, the ongoing property controls and conditions – beyond public 
access easements -- that need to be considered and addressed up 
front.  
 
 Environmental and other liabilities.  The City needs to 

complete a due diligence process to determine if there are 
environmental conditions or other property liabilities that 
would make transfer of ownership to the City not advisable. 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

29 



 
 Option for City ownership.  If ownership is not transferred to 

the City of Alexandria in the short term, terms for 
agreement with the property owner should include 
provisions for the City to subsequently accept transfer of the 
property (or alternately, to require its transfer to a land 
trust), at the City’s discretion or under defined conditions.   

 
 Operations and maintenance liability.   Terms of agreement 

between the property owner/applicant and the City should 
acknowledge the parties who are (or can be) held 
responsible for accidents on pier property, and ensure that 
risks are mitigated. 

 
 Reserves.  Whether publicly or privately owned, long term 

stewardship of the piers will require provisions for capital 
improvements and replacement/rehabilitation at the end of 
their useful life.  Negotiations must consider financial 
responsibility for major improvements.    

 
 Coordinated operations and management.  Terms of 

agreement should address standards of pier operations, 
maintenance and programming that are consistent with the 
overall operations and maintenance plan for the waterfront, 
and financial responsibility for meeting those standards.  
Owner/applicant participation in a new governance entity 
should be encouraged. This is particularly important if one 
or both piers remain in private ownership.    

 
 Allowed activities and impacts.  Whether publicly or 

privately owned, owners adjoining the piers will be sensitive 

to the types of activities that are allowed or encouraged on 
the piers.  Terms between the City and the owner/applicant 
should incorporate the level and types of activities 
permitted or prohibited, include standards such as 
acceptable noise levels associated with activities or events, 
define the hours that the space is open to the public, and 
define the conditions under which restriction of public 
access is allowed.   

 
Governance of Core and Peripheral Areas 
As described above, the core areas of the waterfront are where 
consistent, public/private governance structure on key 
management areas of operations, maintenance, fundraising and 
financial management, marketing and programming will have the 
greatest impact.  Options for peripheral areas could include a more 
limited set of management functions (such as marketing and 
maintenance), or additional structures (such as a “Friends Of” 
organization).   
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

30 



Appendix A:  Operations and Staffing 
Comparisons 
The following table compares the activities, size, and operations for several park partnerships and public-private park governance entities. 
 

Park Entity 
Primary Activities 
Performed Size Budget/Staffing Funding Sources Other Information 

Glen Echo Parks 
Partnership for Arts and 
Culture (GEPPAC) 
(Model 3. Supporting 
Organization) 
 
Sources:  GEPPAC 2013 
Annual Report; research 
compiled by DC 
Downtown BID provided 
to Department of 
Planning and Zoning; 
Guidestar (Form 990) 

Maintains and operates 
renovated facilities; 
manages arts-related 
programming of park; 
fundraises to cover 
operations costs. 

9 acres, 450,000 
annual visitors 

$1.7 million in 
operations, 
 
10 full time staff, 10-20 
seasonal/part time staff 

About 75% of revenue 
($1.25 million) from 
facilities, cooperating 
agreements, events 
rental, carousel and 
other revenue 
generation sources; 
remaining from 
contributions, 
fundraising gala and 
grants. 
 
 

NPS acquired property 
in 1970’s 
 
Montgomery County 
became cooperating 
partner in 2002.  
Designated GEPPAC. 
 
$23 million in capital 
improvements funded 
by county, state and 
federal government 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

31 



Park Entity 
Primary Activities 
Performed Size Budget/Staffing Funding Sources Other Information 

Delaware River 
Waterfront Corporation 
(DRWC) 
(Models 2 and 3 Hybrid. 
New Governmental 
Entity and Supporting 
Organization) 
 
 
Sources: DRWC staff; 
Guidestar (Form 990) 

Maintains public spaces, 
develops programming and 
events that catalyze 
development along the 
Central Delaware 
waterfront; manages public 
land for the City of 
Philadelphia 

120 acres of publicly 
accessible 
waterfront, 
containing 30 acres 
of actively managed 
and programmed 
space.  DRWC 
controls 1,200 acres 
of property along 6 
miles of central 
Delaware 
waterfront 

$12.3 million in total 
expenses; $11.1 million 
in program service 
expenses for entire real 
estate portfolio.  (2012) 
 
64-65 full time 
employees, additional 
120-130 seasonal, part 
time and contracted 
employees 
 
 

Fundraising ($44,840); 
Government Grants $(4 
million) Site revenue 
($4 million); Rental 
income ($1.2 million); 
sponsorship revenue 
($759,775) 

Fundraising $250 
million for new 11 acre 
park that crosses I-95 
 

Brooklyn Bridge Park 
Conservancy 
(Model 3. Supporting 
Organization) 
 
Sources:  Brooklyn 
Bridge Park 
Conservancy; Guidestar, 
(Form 990) 

Runs park programming, 
including winter programs, 
environmental education 
center and sports leagues 
 

85 acres; 150,000 
visitors used 
programs; 8,000 
children 
participated in 
education classes; 
30,000 swimmers in 
pools 

(2013)  $1.8 million in 
expenses;  
$256,118 revenue from 
public programming; 
$351,987 in expenses 
for public programming; 
25 employees; 28 
member board; 1500 
volunteers (6800 
volunteer hours) 

Fundraisers ($501,000); 
Membership 
($227,000);  
Government Grants 
($788,000) 

Expanding as 
renovations to piers 
continue 
 
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

32 



Park Entity 
Primary Activities 
Performed Size Budget/Staffing Funding Sources Other Information 

Friends of the High Line 
(Model 3. Supporting 
Organization) 
 
 
 
 
Sources: Friends of the 
High Line;  Guidestar 
(Form 990) 

Art commissions; special 
events (lectures & 
screenings); guided field 
trips, drop in programming; 
teen programs 
 
 

1.45 mile linear 
park; 4.4 million 
visitors  

(2012) $30.5 million in 
revenue; $5.6 million in 
operating expenses 
(other than 
construction costs for 
completion which were 
$11.2 million)  
 
30 board members; 142 
employees; 169 
volunteers 

Fundraisers ($2.7 
million); Government 
Grants ($112,000); 
Contributions, Gifts, 
Grants ($26 million); 
Rent ($430,000)  

Prospect Park Alliance 
(Model 3. Supporting 
Organization) 
 
Sources:  Prospect Park 
Alliance; Guidestar 
(Form 990)  

Nature education, youth 
engagement; Lefferts 
House historic museum, Le 
Frank Center (ice skating 
rinks and children’s 
playground); tennis center, 
carousel, food and 
beverage services 

250 acres; 10 
million annual 
visitors 

(2012) $12.3 million 
budget; $7.4 million in 
expenses; 33 board 
members; 4,122 
volunteers; 125 staff 
members 

Public Programming  
($4 million) 
Fundraisers ($844,000) 
Membership dues 
($555,000) 
Gifts, Grants, 
Contributions 
($3 million) 

 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

33 



Park Entity 
Primary Activities 
Performed Size Budget/Staffing Funding Sources Other Information 

Capitol Riverfront BID 
(Model 4. Public 
Improvement District or 
Authority) 
 
 
 
 
Sources:  2013 Annual 
Report; BID staff, 
Guidestar (Form 990) 

Operates  Yards Park, 
coordinated services with 
Canal Park and Diamond 
Teague Park; economic 
development and business 
attraction; marketing and 
branding; community 
programming; 
administrative and planning 
functions 

500 acre district 
with 10 acres of 
parks, including 5.5 
acre Yards Park.  

(FY 2013) 
Approximately $2.6 
million:  $1 million to 
operate Yards Park; 
$750,000 clean and 
safe/district 
ambassador program; 
remainder for economic 
development, 
transportation and 
administrative costs.  
Management staff of 8. 

$1.8 million in special 
assessment revenues; 
$150,000 in event 
revenue, $400,000 in 
earmarked revenue for 
Yards Park 
maintenance, $250,00 
grants and 
contributions. 

140 events coordinated 
by the BID in 2013. 
 
26 Board members 

 
  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

34 



Appendix B:  BID Assessments  
The table below compares the size and funding of several improvement districts within the Washington DC metro area. 
 
Name Size/Geography Annual Assessment Total Budget Activities 
Ballston BID 25 blocks; 8.3 million sq. ft. 

office; 1 million sq. ft. retail; 
8,000 residential units 

$0.045 per $100 of assessed 
value (FY12-14) 

$1.50 million (FY 14) Taste of Arlington; Farmers 
Market; New Brand; 
Launchpad Challenge 
(provided cash award, office 
space & furnishings in 
Ballston, and legal assistance 
to two tech firms) 

Crystal City BID 139 parcels; 250 acres; 11 
million sq. ft. office; 1 million 
sq. ft. retail; 5,224 hotel 
rooms 

$0.043 per $100 (FY 14) $2.6 million (FY 14) Beer/wine walk; Fotowalk 
DC; Iron Yard immersive 
coding academy; FreshFarm 
Farmers Market; CSA drop 
off ; free composting; Public 
Space WiFi; Food Truck 
Thursdays  

Rosslyn BID 488 parcels; 17 blocks $0.078 per $100  (FY 15) $3.7 million (FY 15) Homeless services; 
Ambassador Services; site 
plans; Friday night film 
fesival; lunchtime and after 
work concerts; SUPERNOVA 
street performance 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

35 



Name Size/Geography Annual Assessment Total Budget Activities 
Capital Riverfront BID 500 acres; 12 million sq. ft. 

(7.4 million office; 120,000 sf 
retail; 2,758 residential units; 
204 hotel rooms) 
 
Plans for 37 million sf of 
development; only 33% built 
out 

Assessment ranges based on 
property type and size.   
 
• per square foot 

assessment ranging from 
$0.08 to $0.65 for land 
and small commercial 
properties;  

• $0.09 per $100 of assessed 
value for commercial 
properties 

• $95 per hotel room 
• $120 for non-exempt 

residential units (excludes 
subsidized housing and 
properties of 10 units or 
fewer) 

$1.75 million  (FY 13) 
 

Clean & Safe street cleaning 
program; Canal Park with ice 
skating, rain garden, water 
features; Yards Park Friday 
Concert Series 

Georgetown BID 142 blocks; 3.8 million sq. ft. 
office space; 1,000 hotel 
rooms;  

$0.1545 per $100 $3.1 million (FY 14) Flower Basket Program; 
Destination Management 
Program (aims to attract new 
and repeat visitors); Fashion 
Night Out; Taste of 
Georgetown; streetscape 
improvements; French 
Market 

 
  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

36 



Appendix C: Current Governmental 
Functions on the Waterfront
Many City departments currently have responsibility for carrying out 
operations, maintenance and programming on the waterfront. 
These are listed in the tables below. While many of these functions, 
such as mowing grass, are typical of other city parks, others, such 
as periodic dredging, are unique to the waterfront. The 
consideration of a new governance entity will need to include an 
evaluation of which functions should remain under the direct 
control of the City. Any new governance entity would need to 
coordinate closely with the City on functions controlled by the City.  
 
The Alexandria Fire Department (AFD) holds responsibility for fire, 
medical, other emergency services, and life safety inspection 
services for the City and would not transfer such 

responsibilities.  However, AFD does and will continue to work with 
citizens groups on fire preventive and life safety education through 
their Community Services Unit and other outreach and training 
services offered through AFD. 
 
The Alexandria Police Department (APD) would not transfer any 
police responsibilities for the waterfront to a private or nonprofit 
organization.  However, APD does work closely with citizens and 
with private security firms that are retained by a private or nonprofit 
entity to help keep areas safe.  Such relationships recognize APD as 
the City’s primary policing entity receiving appropriate help from 
others when needed. 
  

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

37 



Enforcement of the Virginia Uniform Statewide Building Code Masonry and Brick Pavers
Issue Permits related to Construction and Associated Functions Conveying Systems
Perform Construction and Property Maintenance Inspections Roofing
Post unsafe Buildings or Structures Mechanical System
Perform Amusement Device inspections Plumbing
Perform Post-disaster Inspections, Damage Assessment Electrical

Fire and Security Alarms
Residential Rental Inspections Fire Suppression
Abandoned, Inoperative Vehicles on Private Property Interior Systems
Post Fire Inspections and Follow-up Bulding Envelope
Vacant Property Program Facility Planning and Construction
Old Town Alley, Rodent and Trash Surveys Facility Project Planning
After hours Construction Noise New Construction 
Illegal Dumping                Renovation/Remodeling
Light Pollution Demolition
Refrigerators and Appliances improperly Disposed Facility Support Services
Rodent Complaints Event Set-Up and Support
Street Numbers Snow Removal
Hoarding Energy Management
Trash and Garbage Utility Billing and Payments
Trash: Proper Time at Street-side for Pick-up Utility Acquisition (contracting and rate negotiations)
Water Damage; Sewage Back-ups Utility Performance Analyses and Reporting
Tall Grass and Weeds Energy  & Green Bldg/High Performance &  Bldg Consulting
Residential Smoke Detectors Energy Project Implementation

Parking Garage /Lot Management
Thompsons Alley Garage
Strand Parking Lot (Starting 7/1/15)

Lease Administration

*Code Administration responsibilities would not be transferred from the City.  Torpedo Factory Art Center

Verizon Antenna Lease at the Torpedo Factory
City Marina Air Rights Lease
AT&T Cellular Antenna Array
Robinson Terminal AFD Storage
Nina 's Dandy Operating Lease
Strand Parking Lot Land Lease (Starting 6/30/15)

Real Estate Actions
Requisition & Disposition of Land & Buildings

**General Services Waterfront Facilities:
Potomac Riverboat Company Cruise Boats and Water Taxi Ticket Booth
Dock Master's Hut
Torpedo Factory Art Center
Thompsons Alley Garage
Torpedo Plaza and City Marina 
The Dandy (lease) 

*** The City would not transfer Real Estate Actions - Requisition 
and Disposition of Land responsibilities from the City.

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X

Facility Maintenance and Repair
Task 

X
X

Waterfront Area

CITY OF ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA RESPONSIBILITIES ALONG THE WATERFRONT - 2015 
DEPARTMENT OF CODE ADMINISTRATION*                                                                  DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES**         ***

X

X

Perform complaint-based Inspections regarding Property Maintenance and Construction 

Waterfront Area

X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X
X

X

X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X
X

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

38 



 
  

Task Waterfront Parks City Marina Waterfront Parks City Marina

Aberate Lawn X X Plant Trees X Bus stop Maintenance X

Bed Maintenance X X Planting X Graffiti Removal/Traffic Signs & Signals X X
Bench/Table Repair X X Playground Inspection X Hard Surface Trail Maintenance/Repair X X
Bleacher/Backstop X Playground Management X Hydrants/Preventative X X
Blowing X X Playground Repairs X Hydrants/RRepair X X
Boat Inspections X Plumbing X X Leaf Collection X
Carpenty X X Policing/Litter X X Parking Meters/Install X
Chemcial Treatment X Pour Concrete Pads X X Parking Meters/Repairs X
Commercial Docking Activities Pressure Washing X X Recycling  Collection/Business X
Consultation X X Pruning X X Recycling Collection/Public Space
Court Repairs X Public Art Maintenance X X Recycling Collection/Residential X
Debris Removal/Drift Wood X X Purchase Equipment X X Refuse Collection/Business X X
Deck Cleaning X Rec Services Support X Refuse Collection/Residential X
Dog Park Maintenance X Restoration Painting X X Sewer Maintenance/BMP X X
Dragging Fields X Restroom Cleaning X X Sewer Maintenance/CCTV X X
Drinking Fountain Maintenance X X Sand X Sewer Maintenance/CSOs X X
Edging/Electrical Maintenance X X Shop Maintenance X Sewer Maintenance/FOG X X
Emergency Management X X Signage X X Sewer Maintenance/Inlets & Catch Basins X X
Environmental Review X X Site Evaluations X X Sewer Maintenance/Preventative X X
Equipment Repairs X X Site Furnishing Maintenance X X Sewer Maintenance/Collapsed Inlets/lines X X
Erosion Repairs X Slip Reservations X Sidewalk Maintenance/Repair X
Fencing X X Snow Removal X X Snow Removal/Streets X
Fertilization X X Soil Maintenance X Storm Debris Removal X X
Field Renovations X Special Event Support X X Street Cleaning/Litter Collection X
Fire Suppression Inspection X Storm Water Mgmt Maintenance X X Street Cleaning/No Parking Zones X X
Furniture Replacement X X Strutural Repair X X Street Cleaning/Park Cans X
General Reapirs/Special Projects X X Surfacing X X Street Cleaning/Scheduled X X
Graffiti/Private Property X X Thompsons Alley Management X (Future) Street Cleaning/Street Cans X
Graffiti/Public Property X X Trail Maintenance X X Street Cleaning/Special Events X X
Grind Stump X X Transient Pleasure Boat Docking X Street Lights/Gadsby X
Habitat Restoration X Trash Collection X X Street Lights/Standard X X
Ice Melt X X Tree Maintenance X X Street Maintenance/Annual Paving Program X
Ice Rink Maintenance/Operation X (Future) Trimming X X Street Maintenance/Other X X
Infield Maintenance X Turf Maintenance X X Street Maintenance/Preventative X X
Inspections X X Turf Restoration X X Street Maintenance/Reactive X X
Interactive Fountain Maintenance X (Future) Vandalism Repair X X Traffic Signs/Other X X
Invasive Plant Management X Vegetation Surveys X Traffic Signs/Preventative X X
Irrigation X X Vehicle Maintenance X X Traffic Signs/Repair & Replace X X
Irrigation Maintenance X X Volunteer Projects X X Traffic Signs/Special Events X X
Kayak/Canoe Launch Maintenance X (Future) Watering X X Utility Coordination/Communication X X
Landfill X Weeding/Weed Abatement X X Waterfront Maintenance X
Leaf Removal X X Winterization Activities X X Yard Waste Collection X
Lights Maintenance X X Parking Meters/Preentative & Collection X

Mowing X X *Of the above T&ES responsibilities, the following would not be
Mulcing X X transferred from the City.
Over-Seeding X X Hydrant Maintenance
Painting X X Parking Meter Installation/Maintenance
Periodic Dredging (5-7 year intervals) X Sewer Maintenance (Sanitary, Combined and Storm)
Pest Control X X Street Maintenance
Pier Inspections X X
Planning Meeting X X Traffic Sign and Signal Installation and Maintenance

CITY OF ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA RESPONSIBILITIES ALONG THE WATERFRONT - 2015 

X

Task Waterfront Parks Right of Way

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES*                      DEPARTMENT OF RECREATION, PARKS AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

39 



This page intentionally left blank.
 

Alexandria Waterfront Governance Models Analysis  
  

40 



Department of Recreation, Parks & Cultural Activities 
Waterfront Operations Program 

 
 

WATERFRONT OPERATIONS PROGRAM  
 
FY 2016 Operating Budget  

• City Marina: $29,750 (reduction) 
Reduce the presence of on-site security and provide enhanced video surveillance as the 
primary method of security. 

• Waterfront Parks: no reductions proposed 
• Special Events: no reductions proposed 

 
FY 2016-FY 2025 CIP: $12,500,000 

• City Marina Waterfront Dredging: $4,500,000 (FY 2021 & FY 2022) 
• City Marina Maintenance: $1,250,000 (FY 2016-FY 2025) 

Maintenance: $90,000 annually 
Founders Park Seawall: FY 2016:$100,000 & FY 2017:$250,000 

• City Marina Utility Upgrades: $1,250,000 (FY 2016 & FY 2017) 
• Waterfront Parks CFMP: $500,000 (FY 2016-FY 2017: $50,000 annually) 
• Windmill Hill Park Bulkhead: $5,000,000 (FY 2016) 

 
CITY MARINA– SLIP LICENSING SUMMARY 
 
2014 Boating Season 
 

• 61 slips for Recreational Boating 
o 54 designated for licensing (53 license holders) 

 48 City resident & 5 nonresident 
o 7 designated transient 

Note: two members removed from waitlist for the 2014 season 
 
2015 Boating Season 
 

• 61 slips for Recreational Boating 
o 54 designated for licensing 

 46 of 53 returning from 2014 (verbal commitment) 
• 42 City resident & 4 nonresident 

 8 waitlist members accepted offers 
• 6 City resident & 2 nonresident 

o 7 designated transient 
• License Application Schedule 

o February 2015: Boaters contacted of intent to return for 2015 season 
o March 4-6: Boaters provided 2015 Licensing Documents 



o March 16: Deadline to return Licensing Documents 
o March 23: Deadline to forward Payment 
o March 24: Marina staff will offer open slips to waitlist members (second 

opportunity to commit) 
o April 1: 2015 season opens; new License in effect. 
o April 9: Waterfront Commission Marina Committee – 2015 Boater Orientation  

 
2015 Waitlist Status 
  

• 23 Total Waitlist Members from 2014 
o 14 City resident 

 All Offered 2015 License – 8 declined & 6 received license offer 
o 9 nonresident 

 2 received license offer 
• 15 Total Waitlist Members (3/6/15) 

o 8 City resident and 7 nonresident 
 
MAINTENANCE PROJECT STATUS 
 

• City Marina Dredging: Complete 
• Wharf Strengthening: Change order approved. Material Ordered. Work Completion 

estimated first week of April 
• Blackwall Hitch Restrooms: Construction planned for completion by restaurant 

opening May/June. 
• Future Work Activities: Installation of ADA Signage; Address ADA Compliance in 

Marina Slip Restrooms; Walkway Repairs; Security Camera Upgrade; Utility Upgrade 
Preparations; Founders Park Seawall Stabilization Preparations; Annual Fire 
Suppression Inspection 

 
CITY MARINA SPECIAL EVENT ACTIVITIES 
 

• Le Hermoine Tall Ship Visit: June 10-12, 2015 
• Marina Concerts 

o Sponsor: Local Businesses 


	Waterfront Commission Agenda 3-17-15
	WC Minutes Draft 2-19-15
	Waterfront Plan Implementation CIP FY 2016-FY2017 Proposed
	Waterfront Plan Implemenatation FY 2016-FY2025 CIP
	Waterfront Plan Implementation FY 2016-FY2017
	8_Community_Development_Proposed
	1
	#2
	3


	Common Elements 9-12-14
	WF Project Status 3-10-15
	Governance Report 3-9-15
	Waterfront Commission Memo
	Governance Report 03 09 15
	Executive Summary
	About the Study
	Governance Models
	Model Evaluation
	Next Steps

	Introduction
	Assignment Purpose
	Report Organization
	Description of Governance Models
	Profile Examples
	Model Evaluation


	Governance Models
	Overview of Governance Models
	Model 1. City Management
	Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Revenue Generation
	Key Features and Functions
	Precedents
	Funding Sources
	Operational Considerations
	Enabling Legislation

	Model 2. New Governmental Entity: Independent Park District or Authority
	Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Revenue Generation
	Key Features and Functions
	Precedents
	Funding Sources
	Operational Considerations
	Enabling Legislation

	Model 3. Supporting Organizations:  Conservancies and Friends Organizations
	Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Maintenance
	Key Features and Functions
	Precedents
	Funding Sources
	Staffing and Operational Considerations
	Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations

	Model 4. Public Improvement District or Authority
	Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Maintenance
	Key Features and Functions
	Examples
	Funding Sources
	Staffing and Operational Considerations
	Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations

	Model 5. Privately Owned Public Space
	Organization Chart:  Park Operations, Programming and Maintenance
	Key Features and Functions
	Precedents
	Funding Sources
	Staffing and Operational Considerations
	Enabling Framework and Legislative Considerations


	Model Profiles
	Fairfax County Park Authority
	Fort Mason Center
	Delaware River Waterfront Corporation
	Capitol Riverfront BID
	The Mosaic District CDA/Merrifield CRA, Fairfax County
	New York City Privately Owned Public Spaces (POPS)0F

	Model Evaluation and Key Considerations
	Evaluation Matrix
	Key Considerations
	Public vs. Public/Private Management
	Activities
	Ownership and Governance and the Robinson Terminal Piers
	Governance of Core and Peripheral Areas


	Appendix A:  Operations and Staffing Comparisons
	Appendix B:  BID Assessments
	Appendix C: Current Governmental Functions on the Waterfront


	Waterfront Operations Budget Summary &  Marina License Report



